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ABSTRACT

This thesis is devoted ta an unsuccessful mission to Sofia undertaken in the faH of

1914 by Noel Buxton, a Liberal British M. P.. who aimed to win Bulgaria over to the side

of the Triple Entente. Although referred ta on occasion in works having ta do with the

conduct of British foreign policy during the First World War, the affair has never before

been described in full. Through a close examination ofhitherto unexploited material from

Buxton's own archive, it has been possible to reconstruct the evolution of the mission,

analyze its contemporary signiticance. and suggest its relevance to current trends towards

the moralization and democratization ofdiplomacy.

RESUME

Cette thèse a comme sujet le voyage effectué à Sotia, en automne. 1914, par Noel

Buxton, membre du parlement anglais, afin de persuader la Bulgarie de secourir les

membres du triple entente. Malgré le tmt qu'on y retrouve parfois des allusions dans les

oeuvres ayant affaire avec la politique étrangère de l'Angleterre durant la première guerre

mondiale, ce mission n'a jamais été étudié de près. Grâce à un examen des documents

personnels de Buxton, il a maintenant été possible de fournir des détails auparavant

inconnus sur cet épisode inusité.



• ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost, 1 would like ta thank my thesis supervisor, Professor Philip

Longworth. His guidance, patience, and encouragement were essential ta the

successfuI eompletion of this project.

Seeondly, l would like to express my appreeiation ta Ms. Mary McDaid for

interest, advice, and help which went above and beyond the caU of her nominal

administrative duties as MeGill's Graduate Secretary for History.

[ must also acknowledge the dedication of Dr. Virr and the rest of the staffof the

Department of Rare Books and Special Collections of McGill University

Libraries.

ii

•

Finally, this page would he incomplete without mention of my parents. godfather,

and friends. whose support has always been învaluable.



•

•

Abstract

Acknowledgments

Introduction

Chapter 1

Chapter Il

Chapter III

Conclusion

Bibliography

TABLE OF CONTENTS

11

6

24

61

87

93

iii



•

•

lNTROPUCTION

ft had been Britain's hope upon the outbreak ofWorld War One that Bulgaria

would honor traditional Russophile and Anglophile loyaIties and remain benevolently

neutral, at the very least.. in the forthcoming conflict between the Triple Entente and the

Dual Alliance. Instead.. by mid-August, 1914, it had become apparent that Bulgaria's

King Ferdinand.. and his Prime Minister, Vasil Radoslavov, were inclined ta lead their

country into an alliance with the Central Powers.

Nael Edward Bu.xtan.. a British M. P... suggested that he travel directly to Sofia in

an attempt to redress the situation. As we shaH see, Buxton.. having undertaken six prior

expeditions ta the Balkans, was in close contact with severa! important politieians in the

Bulgarian Opposition. Sir Edward Grey.. the British Foreign Secretary.. was nonetheless

reluctant to sanction the proposai.. fearing that Bu.xton might disrupt normal diplomatie

channels and impede the direction afForeign Office poliey with regards ta Serbia and

Greece. Buxton therefore enlisted the support ofCabinet members David Lloyd George

and Winston Churchil1~ and Grey was ultimately persuaded ta approve in principle the

idea ofa "study" mission ta Bulgaria. However.. after his arrivai in Satia in early

September.. 1914, Buxton exceeded bis mandate by unsuccessfully politieking to bring

Bulgaria direetly into the war on the Allied side. His activities gave rise ta consternation

not only in Berlin, Vienna., and Constantinople.. but aIse ta the Allied govemments in Nis,

Athens, and London itself. Buxton came to be perceived within the British Foreign Office
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as a dangerous nuisance to the wider interests of the Entente, and was accorded a rather

hostile reception by the British government upon his return home in January.. 1915.'

The story of Buxton's mission to Bulgaria is ofobvious importance to anyone

interested in the conduct of British Foreign policy during the First World War.. as weil as

to those with an interest in the historical background to the modem tendency to make

foreign policy a subject of democratic politics. However.. surprisingly little has been

published.. in Western languages at least.. regarding the precise circumstances of the

genesis of BtLxton's mission.. or the nature of his subsequent activities in the Balkans.

Secrecy was one reason for this deticiency: Buxton himself noted in his personal records

that it was deemed "against interests ofcountry" ta divulge specifies about the mission

during the course of the War and after the Armistice.2 Perhaps this aIso explains why

Grey.. Churchill.. and Lloyd George.. respectively.. in their 0\\11 voluminous

autobiographical retrospectives.. allude only in passing, ifat aIl. to the atlàir.3

The tirst account of Buxton's wartime activities seems to have appeared only in

1932.. when his private secretary.. T. P. Conwell-Evans, published Foreh:n Policy from a

Back Bencb 1904-1918. Conwell-Evans had access to Buxton's personal records, and

provided an accurate, but inadequate, overview of the salient points of the affair. The only

other relevant tull-length work is a 1952 biography of Buxton written by Mosa

Anderson," whose account of the 1914 mission echoes that ofConwell-Evans. In fac~

1 Michael G. Fry" Lloyd Geo[l:e and ForeiiD Poljey, (vol. l. Montreal: McGill-Queents UP. (977) 282.

2 NoeI Buxton's notes; holograph; n. d.. Noel Buxton Papers (hereafter cited as N. B. P.): Box 64: File l.

3 Va. Grey of Fallodon: Twenty-Fjve yeats 1892-1916. (3 vo[s.; 1925); Lloyd George: War Memojrs
of Dayjd Lloyd Geoœe. (4 vols.; 1933); Churchill: The Wor!d Crisis. (2 vols.; [923).

4 Mosa Anderson, Noel Buxton. A Life. (London: George Allen & Unwin" [952).
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Foreiio Policy ftom a Back Bench appears ta constitute the primary source of

information for most succeeding references (generally in passim) to the mission which

appear in various works having ta do with British foreign poliey during the War. Two

journal articles do draw directly upon Buxton's personal records, the tirst written by H. N.

Fieldhouse in 1966,5 and the second by Robert Vogel in 1990.6 However, these provide

only a modicum of additional information about the mission itself, although Fieldhouse is

strong on Buxton's later propaganda activities in London. Similarly.. Michael G. Fry~ in

Lloyd Geon~e and EoreiiD Policy, (1977), provides an instructive account of Lloyd

George's collaboration with Buxton.. but is short on specifies insofar as the mission is

coneemed. Finally.. Ivan llcev. working from Bulgarian sources in his L982 article "Great

Sritain and BuIgaria's Entry Into the First World War (1914-1915)," contributes a brie[

albeit useful reterence to Buxton's aetivities in Bulgaria.

However, the raw material for a more in depth investigation of Suxton's 1914

mission exists in the tonn ofhis persona! papers.. which constitute the basis of the

investigation which tollows. Housed in the Department of Rare Books and Special

Collections of the McLennan Library of McGill University in Montreal..7 the Noel Buxton

collection is made up of72 box-files ofvarying dimensions, aIl ofwhich contain a

5 H. N. Fieldhouse, t~oel Buxton and A. J. P. Taylor's The Troub/e~iWakers." A Cemuey ofCoQtljet
1850~1950. (ed. Martin Gilbert. London: Hamish Hamilton. 1966) 173-198.

6 Robert Vogel, ''Noel Bu.'<ton: The 'Trouble-Maker' and His Papers." Fomanus. (3 (1990) 13 1-150).

7 The Buxton Files were acquired by the University in 1961 through the offices of H. N. Fieldhouse, with
some later additions to the collection following in 1968, although it is unelear how exaetly the Papers
came to leave the Buxton family's possession. A smal1er aggregation can aIso be round in the William
R. Perkins Library ofOuke University, and individual documents apparently still turn up from time to
time in the hands ofdealers in London.
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profusion ofprinted and handwritten documents and notes. The size and content of the

aggregation reflect the range of Buxton's activities, and bis efforts, in the words of

Fieldhouse,

to influence the already influential; to do this by the untiring submission of
memoranda of information and argument., and by the machinery of committee
and deputation. The recipients of the memoranda and of the deputations were
the politically established and the culturally articulate.8

[n the process, Buxton wrote three books, collaborated in numerous others.. contributed

prolifically to various journals, produced innumerable pamphlets and letters to the press.,

and conducted a private correspondence of vast dimensions with many people of public

note.9 Through a painstaking lO examination ofhis persona! records, it has been possible

to trace the evolution of Bu.xton's 1914 mission to BuIgaria.. and so provide new insight

into a hitherto unelucidated sideshow ta the First World War.

Sa as to provide a certain amount ofessential contextual intonnation, this thesis

will begin with a preliminary chapter devoted to Buxton's personal background and pre-

1914 propaganda efforts in London on behalfof Bulgaria through the offices of his

Balkan Committee, a briefsynopsis of the Balkan Wars of 1912 and 1913. and an

account ofensuing diplomatie developments in Bulgaria up to the eve of World War One.

Chapter n focuses on events tram late August, 1914, when Buxton was involved in

discussions with the Foreign Office regarding the substance ofhis mission.. and follows

8 Fieldhouse., 186.

9 Vogel, 146.

la Unfortunately, important as it is for scholars, the very size orthe aggregation, and its disorganization,
discourages use. While il is likely that the material was at one lime more rationally arrange~ the only
rmding aid is woefully inadequate for the purposes ofserious research.
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his journey to Bulgaria and activities in Sofia from September 6 until ms departure for

Romania on October 2~ 1914. Chapter III details Bu.xton's progress in Bucharest, and

after his subsequent return to SC'fi~ prior ta his retum ta London on January 6.. 1915. An

analytical conclusion completes the thesis.

5
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CHArTER 1

Under the terms of the Treaty ofSan Stefano, imposed upon the Ottoman Empire

on March 3~ 1878, a "Greater Bulgaria,." extending from the Adriatic to the Aegean and

Black Seas was to have been created under the aegis of Russia. However~ the idea ofsuch

a large Russian satellite in the Balkans was unacceptable ta the other Great Powers of

Europe. Tsar Alexander II was consequently forced into agreement with the decrees of

the Congress of Berlin, whereby Bulgaria was confined ta the north of the Balkan range

as an autonomous principality under Ottoman suzerainty ~ and considerable parts of

Macedonia were restored to direct Turkish mIe.

The prime mover at Berlin had been the incumbent British Prime Minister'!

Benjamin Disraeli. Careless or ignorant of the wider political realities which underlay his

demarche, a significant segment of British public opinion.. buoyed by Christian traditions

of intolerance towards the intidel. insisted that Britain had theretore a special moral

obligation ta ensure that Macedonia was "properly" govemed. In spectacular fashion,

William Ewart Gladstone assumed immediate leadership of the cause,! culminating with

his Midlathian campaign of 1879-1880. In the early years of the twentieth century,

however, there arose a new, albeit less flamboyant,! champion: Noel Edward Buxton.

Buxton had been a Liberal Member of the British Parliament for Whitby in 1905­

1906 and Norfolk North since 1910, and had distinguished himself through his powerful

social conscience and advocacy of various humanitarian causes. He came from a family

with a tradition ofliheral reform and Christian philanthropy: Buxton's great grandfather,

the first Baronet Sir Thomas Fowell Buxton, had played an important role in the
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emancipation of the slaves throughout the British Empire. l Noel Buxton's perspective on

life had been broadened through an 1892 voyage around the world~ which had served to

undermine ms belief in the propriety of class privilege.2 He \vas later to reflect upon his

impressions:

My idea is that we who lead a secure and comfortahle life are woefully eut off
from realities. If Christ is any guide~ every human being is of value~ and we
must be concemed for alt but to care for them at all we must go out of our way
ta understand their outlook. Our way of life cuts us clean off from theirs and
our class standards~ even cleanliness itself, make it seem aImost a duty to keep
aIoof ... 1am inordinately proud of the family concem for wron~s~ social and
persona! ... ail this life we are asked to sbut our eyes.J

In 1899, Buxton chose, in the Gladstonian tradition, ta visit Macedonia~ and

protèssed to he appalled by what he perceived as the distress and misery of the Christian

populations ofTurkish Europe. He thereupon dedicated himselfto improving the

condition of the Macedonian unfortunates~ and subsequently to securing all of Macedonia

for Bulgaria:

l think the evils ofTurkish rule are such that to diminish them is weIl worth
risking my litè. The savagery ... which animates a proud and dominant race ...
[permeates] its dealings with unarmed and helpless subjects, despised for their
religion and hated tor their superior brains. The mass of pain and waste~

resulting from general disorder, murder, violation and robbery is such that [
have constantly felt one ought gladly to give one's life to relieve it even a
little:~

1 Anderson, 17.

2 Ibid., 28.

3 Noel Buxton to Lucy Suxton; 1914 1220; copy. N. B. P.: Box 13; File 1 (Buxton's emphasis)•

4 Noel Buxton to Lucy Bu.xton; 1914 10 27; holograph; Ibid.
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As a first step in that direction, Buxton in 1902 founded the Balkan Committee,

and induced the eminent James Bryce5 to become its president. Bryce had endorsed

Buxton's idea of forming a body

to watch the pragress ofevents in Macedonia and the Turkish East generally ...
confined to obtaining and diffusing information and views, exciting interest in
the subject and advocating measures calculated to secure peace, and put an end
to oppression, bloodshed and cruelty.6

The Committee set about trying to persuade British Foreign Secretary Lord Lansdowne to

take sorne responsibility tor the situation in Macedonia. For the mast part this \vas

effected through an enormous number of petitions to the Foreign Office and other

influential bodies or persons, as well as through the personal propagandizing ofmemhers

of the group.7 The clout carried by the group's members. ajudicious mixture of

politicians, ecclesiastical dignitaries. professors. journalists, and wealthy businessmen,8

gave Noel Buxton. as Chairman. and after 1907. President of the Committee. ready

access to the leaders of the British Government.q During its tirst five or six years of

5 James Bryce, M. P., a respected canstitutianal scholar, had been Undersecretary for Foreign AtTairs in
1886, and would later serve as ambassadar ta Washington tram 1907 ta 1913.

6 James Bryce ta Noel Buxton; 1903 07 05. T. P. Conwell-Evans. Eoreil:D Poljey from a Back Bencb
1904-1908: A Study Based on the Papers of Lord Noel-Byxton. (London: Oxford UP. 1932) 3.

7 Fieldhouse. 179.

8 Over the years. members and supporters ineluded, among others. the Earl of Aberdeen, Canon Barnen,
J. D. Bourchier, Lady and Sir E. Boyle, H. N. Brailsford, Lord Brassey, G. Cadbury, Lady F.
Cavendish. the Rev. Dr. Clifford, B. Christian, M. E. Durham, Sir Arthur Evans, Lord Farrer, Lord E.
Fïtzmaurice. M. P., A. G. Gardiner, H. Gladstone, M. P., G. P. Gooch, Bishop Gare, J. L. Hammond, C.
Harris, the Bishop of Hereford, Canon Scott Halland, H. Law, M. P., the Earl of Lyttan, Canon
MaccolI, C. F. G. Masterman, W. A. Moore, H. Nevinson, A. Pansonby, R. A. Scott James, A. Spicer,
Lord Stanmore, C. P. Trevelyan, M. P., G. Trevelyan, L. Villari.. Prof. Westlake.. P. W. Wilson.. the
Bishop of Worcester, and H. Young. N. B. P.: Box 56b; Files 2 and 3. Conwell-Evans,4.

9 Vogel, 138.
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existence~ the Committee played a particularly important role in influencing public

opinion and the government of the day.IO In fact, it strengthened the position of

Lansdowne, who. unlike many of his Conservative colleagues, was himself sympathetic

to the Macedonian cause.11

Noel Buxton's influence ensured that the Balkan Committee, its official title

nonvithstanding.. remained unabashedly pro-Bulgarian in orientation. For instance, it was

glibly assumed that all of Macedonia was part ofunredeemed Bulgaria.. despite equally

convincing Serbian and Greek claims ta the contrary.12 This alienated not only potential

supporters. but from time ta time members of the Committee itself. 13 Buxton and rus

colleagues aIso tended to ignore persistent evidence of intta-Christian atrocities in

Macedonia. even when such evidence was provided by their own allies. 14 Moreover. this

single-minded approach sometimes left the Committee incapable of fathoming many of

the intricacies ofGreat Power politics in the Balkans. 15 Nonetheless. the policies of the

Balkan Committee always sounded, at least. both sensible and moderate to the average

listener, and were advocated with righteous indignation over the apparent disinterest or

10 Conwell-Evans,3.

11 Douglas Dakin, The Greek StrulU:fe in Macedonja 1897-1913 (Thessaloniki: Institute tor Balkan
Studies. (966) 150.

12 The question has still not been adequately resolved. For a detailed and unbiased analysis of the
Maeedonian ethnie intermixture at the time ofthe Great War see British Naval Intelligence Division.
JY~QslaYia. (vol. IL Geographieal Handbook Series. Great Britain: 1944.) 117ff.

13 Perhaps the most prominent ofsueh dissidents was British M. P. Aubrey Herbert, who resigned on
January 10 1913 in protestofthe "partizan attitude ... whieh favoured the Bulgarian at the expense of
the Greek and Moslem inhabitants of Maeedonia.'t Fieldhouse, 181.

14 Ibid., 180•

15 Vogel, 138.
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inactivity of others. AlI of this led ta Buxton's becoming a source ofenormous irritation

to successive editions of the British Foreign Office. 16 On occasion~ however~ the Foreign

Office was nonetheless compelled by the Committee's prestige and public support to

depart from its customary reticence in favor of long.. reasoned replies promising action. 17

However~ after 1905. the Committee had no wish to weaken the newly elected

Liberal Government, which represented the party to which Buxton and most of the

members of the Committee belonged. 18 Although objecting in principle ta the

"imperialist" wing of the party. represented by the new Foreign Secretary~ Sir Edward

Grey, and Prime Minister Herbert H. Asquith.. 19 the Committee remained dependent on

persuading the Foreign Office or the cabinet to act on its recommendations. However, not

only was Grey less inclined than had been his predecessor ta cater to the demands of the

Balkan Committee, but, unlike Lansdowne, Grey could rely on Opposition votes against

his own back-benchers.2o

Regardless.. in the Ottoman Empire especially the belief persisted that the Balkan

Committee exercised an inordinate amount of inf1uence, and theretore the Young Turks

16 Ibid.

17 Conwell-Evans. 8.

18 Vogel. [38.

19 Buxton and l1is fiiends were opposed to the extent to wl1ich democratic England was excluded from the
country's decision-making processes. SpecificaIly, they disagreed with the prevailing lega[ opinion that
parliamentary sanction was needed neither for signing nor for ratifying treaties, except in the case of
peacetime accords which incurred definite financial obligations or ceded territory. See Keith G.
Rabbins. ItThe Foreign Secretary, the Cabinet, Parliament and the Parties.1I (HinsIey 3-2[) 3.

20 f. R. Bridge, "Relations with Austria-Hungary and the Balkan States, [905-[9[4.1t (Hinsley 165-(77)
[67.
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took pains to court Buxton after their rise to power in 1908.21 The considerable support

which had been given to the Revolution by the Christian communities in Macedonia

encouraged Buxton to moderate his views, and he was also pragmatic enough to

recognize the potential for increased British influence at Constantinople.22 He accepted an

invitation to visit the incumbent Sultan Abdul Hamid II and the Young Turk government

in December of 1909. However. when nationalist elements amongst the Young Turks

eventually emerged to follow traditional policies ofoppression towards their subject

populations in Macedonia (and also Armenia), Buxton and his colleagues.. in their

disillusionment'l became even more anti-Turk than ever.23

Partly as a result of the Committee's activities'l Grey did admit in 1911 that it

would be impossible tor Britain to sicle with any policy in the Balkans designed to repress

Bulgaria.2.J Usually.. though.. the Foreign Secretary took the line that.. in other countries'l

whatever the humane sentiments ofindividuals may have been about their own
affairs.. they did oot take the form of pressure for philanthropie action abroad
that might iovolve their own govemment in complications with continental
neighbours.25

21 See. for example, cordialletters From Enver Bey to Noel Buxton; 19100408 and 1911 0729; N. B. P.:
Box 25, File 6; Talaat Bey to Noel Buxton; 1911 0225; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 56b; File 1; and aIso
telegrams from If La Grande Nation Unie et le Partie Parlementaire Union et Progressif to Noel Buxton;
190902 13 and 19099706; N. B. P.: Box 56~ File 1.

22 Dakin. 399.

23 Vogel. 138.

24 Keith G. Robbins. "Public Opinion. the Press and Pressure Groups.1f (Hinsley 70-88) 86.

25 quoted in Fieldhouse't 175.
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Noel Buxton was of course among those who had other ideas on the matter, and the

Agadir Crisis26 publiely exposed the aforementioned rift between Buxton and Grey.

Along with his nephew Arthur Ponsonby, Buxton formed the Liberal Foreign Affairs

group, and staged'l in the judgement of A. 1. P. Taylor, a "somewhat ineffectual lt attack on

Grey's foreign policy in November 1911.27 Naturally.. the Foreign Office, which did not

escape from the general denunciation, rose to Grey's detènse,28 and the pronouncements

of the Balkan Committee.. although signifieantly redueed in politieal relevance.. grew

dispraportionately strident.

The tension between Noel Buxton and Sir Edward Grey accumulated during the

pre-1914 period was ta affect significantly their conduet vis-à-vis Bulgaria during the

first year of the Great War. On the basis ofNoel Buxton's daim to have persona! aeeess

to special indigenous sources of infonnation about Bulgarian politics.. he and rus friends

would virtually style themselves as an alternative Foreign Office with respect to the

Balkans.29

However.. a preliminary overview of politieal developments in the Balkans during

the period immediately preceding the onset of Buxton's expedition in 1914 is in arder.

due to the tàct that political attitudes in 1914-1915 Bulgaria were very much

predetermined by the recent upheavals of the Balkan Wars.

26 Buxton, while not a pacifist per se.. was always very much concemed with giving Gennany what he
considered to be its colonial entitlements.

27 A. J. P. Taylor. The Troyble Makers· Pissent Ovec Foreiw Polie)' 1792-1939. (London: Hamish
Hamilton.. 1957) 117.

28 Zara Steiner. 'The Foreign Office Under Sir. Edward Grey, 1905-1914." (Hinsley 22-69) 46.

29 Fieldhouse, [82.
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The September. 1911 outbreak ofwar between the Ottoman Empire and Italy in

North Africa had provided an irresistible opportunity tor cooperation amongst the usually

fractious Balkan states against the Turkish presence in the region.JO An agreement

between Bulgaria and Serbia providing for an equitable division ofMacedonia between

themselves was reached under Russian auspices in early 1912.31 Bulgaria then joined

Serbia in a military alliance with Greece. despite the failure of the Bulgarians and Greeks

to satisfactorily resolve long-standing frontier disputes in Salonica (Thessaloniki) and

Thrace. Montenegro subsequently joined the alliance as weB. and the First Balkan War

resulted in Turkey's loss ofall of its European possessions except for a small ribbon

around Constantinople. However. when peace negotiations opened in London on

December 16. 1912.. Austria-Hungary insisted upon the withdrawal of Serbian troops

from the Adriatic coast.. where an Albanian state had been proclaimed on November 28.

1912. Shortly after that crisis was deferred through the de jure recognition of Albania as

an independent state. war with Turkey resumed in January 1913.. following a coup d'état

in Constantinople. The Balkan allies were once again victorious. and the Treaty of

London was signed on May 30, 1913, which assigned to Bulgaria a southem frontier

running from Enos (Enez). on the Aegean, to Midiia (Kiyikoy) on the Black Sea.

30 Dimitrije V. Djordjevic et al.. "History orthe Balkans." Encyclogaedja Britannica' Macrggaedja
(1984 ed.) 630-631. More detailed and comprehensive accounts orthe Balkan Wars. wrïtten from
various national perspectives. are aiso widely available.

31 Macedonia was ta be divided into Bulgarian and Serbian zones. with a central. unassigned region held
in reserve and tenned. curiously enough. the "uncontested" zone.
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However~ the Serbs refused to accept the partition of Macedonia detailed by their

1912 treaty with Bulgaria on the grounds that they had been forced to withdraw from the

Adriatic, and the frontier disputes between Bulgaria and Greece flared up again as weIl.

Furthermore, although Romanian daims in the area seemed to have been settled through

the April 1913 Protocol ofPetrograd, Romania demanded from Bulgaria a part ofits

southeastem Dobruja region as compensation for having - due supposedly ta Great Po\ver

pronouncements in tàvor of such a course - remained neutral in the preceding conflict. On

June 1, 1913~ Serbia and Greece concluded an alliance against Bulgaria. Serbia was still

prepared to accept an option ofTsarist arbitration which had been provided for in the

original agreement over Macedonia~ but only if ne\v territorial arrangements would

entirely supersede that engagement. This was unacceptable to Bulgaria however~ which

anticipated that Russia might be anxious to strengthen Serbia against Austria. Although

they struck an intransigent pose in their dealings with the Tsar~ the Bulgarians assumed

nonetheless that Russia would maintain traditional Slavic tèelings of solidarity and

prevent the potential dismemberment of Bulgaria by its Balkan neighbors.

Ta the dismay of the Bulgarians, however, Russia announced that they must either

accept the Tsar's arbitration or suffer the consequences alone. The Bulgarian military

commander, General Savov, apparently without the approval of the cabinet but with the

likely connivance ofIGng Ferdinand,32 decided instead on a pre..emptive strike, and on

June 30, 1913, attacked Serbia and Greece. However, the latter countries were bath fully

prepared for just this eventuality; Romania, meanwhile, invaded Dobmja.. and the

32 Djordjevic et al.<t 135.
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Ottomans took advantage of the opportunity to recapture Adrianople from Bulgaria as

weil. Through the Treaty of Bucharest, signed on August 10, 1913, Romania procured its

part of Dobruj~ and Greece obtained Salonic~ Kavalla, and the coastaI part of

Macedonia. Serbia gained northem and central Macedoni~ leaving Bulgaria with only

the Strumnica region in the easternmost part of that territory.

The debacle put Bulgaria's new Liberal government. headed by the Russophile

Vasil Radoslavov~ in a somewhat precarious position. The loss of Macedonia was

perceived as a national humiliation.. while Dobruja had been Bulgaria's most productive

and advanced agricultural region. Its loss aIso negated the strategie and commercial

importance of the Black Sea port of Vama. Bulgariu therefore found itself in need ofa

large foreign loan to tinance the accelerated development of extremely backward areas, as

weil as to repair the general costs of the Balkan wars.33 Radoslavov advocated that

Bulgaria make a tinal break with Russia and turn instead towards the Central Powers,

with whose cooperation revenge could be exacted on Serbia and Greece in the near

future.J.J However~ the vain and arrogant Ferdinand was personally disliked by the

volatile Kaiser Wilhelm IL and initial efforts to mise funds in Vienna and Berlin were

unsuccessful.

However, similar endeavors in Paris failed as weil, due largely to Russia's

insistenee upon an unequivocal commitment to the Entente as a condition ofany loan.

33 Richard J. Crampton~ Buh:aria 1878-1918' A HjstQ[y (New York: Columbia UP. 1983) 427.

34 Z. A. B. Zeman~ A Diplomatie Hist0[y orthe first World War. (London: Weidenfeld and Nicolson,
1971) 73.
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Although Russian diplomacy envisioned that a reconciled Bulgaria and Serbia could

forestall possible Austrian designs on Asia Minor.. Tsar Nicholas II aIso wished ta cow

the formerly compliant Bulgarians. The Russian minister in Sofi~ Alexander Savinsky..

adopted a patronizing attitude and intrigued against the Radoslavov govemment.35 Great

Britain.. meanwhile.. remained somewhat alooffrom the Continental proceedings'l and

deferred ta the Russian protocol.

Bulgaria therefore turned once again in the direction of the Central Powers'l which

by the spring of 1914 were tàr more accommodating than they had been initiaJly. Russian

Foreign Minister Sergei Sazonov correspondingly moderated his stance. insisting only

that the Bulgarian government be "well-disposed" to the Entente. but this impIied the

dismissal of Radoslavov. which Ferdinand refused to contemplate.J6 Although the French

government approved a personalloan to Ferdinand. the dislocation orthe money market

occasioned by the July Crisis brought the announcement that France would be unable to

make a loan available before the end of the year under any circumstances.J7

Radoslavov then tabled in the Bulgarian Sobranie a proposed German loan

agreement. which was denounced by aImost the whole of the Opposition'l but passed

amidst apparently well-founded accusations of voting traud on the part of the

Government.38 Sorne of the terms of the loan infringed upon Bulgaria's economic

35 Ibid.

36 Crampton.. 432.

37 Keith G. Robbins'l "British Diplomacy and Bulgaria 1914-1915." Slayon je and East Eyropean Reyiew
(49.117. (Oct. (971): 560-585) 564.

38 Crampton. 435.
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independence,,39 and the international implications of the decision in favor of Germany

offended traditional Slavic and Orthodox sympathies.

On July 29, Ferdinand nonetheless proclaimed Bulgaria's intention not to deviate

from an official poliey of "strict and loyal neutrality" in the incipient war between

Austria-Hungary and Serbi~ and instituted measures designed to give credibility to the

declaration.4o In actuality" Radoslavov already had sent a secret proposai to the German

and Austrian ministers that their govemments should explore the possibility ofa military

convention and alliance. But when the terms were eventually put to Ferdinand" the King

judged that the German otTer ofthat part of Macedonia which was "ethnically and

historically" Bulgarian was too vague to justify immediate action.41

Bulgaria did conclude on August 6 a secret alliance with Turkey, which contained

a provision for mutual aid in the event ofan attack by any other Balkan state or states. It

was however agreed that Bulgaria would under no circumstances undertake any offensive

military action in agreement with Turkey until an adequate guarantee trom Romania had

been obtained.~2 It would he five months before any of the Great Powers learned of the

39 For instance. German companies were given effective control over Bulgaria's major coa! field. the
prime source of fuel for the state's railroad network. Ibid.• 433.

~o The incursion of Bulgarian raiding panies into Serbia was halted and sorne Macedonians were
disarmed. known Austrian and Turkish agents were removed from Danube ports so as to safeguard the
passage of Russian vessels taking supplies to Serbi~ and conciliation was shown towards Romania in
various minor frontier disputes. Ibid.• 434.

41 Ibid., 435.

42 The Romanian Government had already secretly decided to renounce a clause in the 1913 Treaty of
Bucharest which pledge it to assist Serbia in case ofa Bulgarian invasion. However, the Bulgarian
government had not been infonned ofthis. Zeman, 80.
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existence ofthat treaty. On the same day~ Radoslavov aIso reassured the British Minister

in Sofia~ Sir Henry Bax-Ironside~ that Bulgaria still intended to remain neutral.43

On August 12 the Bulgarian government reiterated~ this time publicly, its

commitment ta neutrality ~ which in any case was popular with a Bulgarian populace still

reeling from the lasses of 1912 and 1913. Most Bulgarians were also loath to tight

alongside the Germans and the Austrians~ not ta mention the Turks~ and \vhile Russia

might have lost sorne of its traditional status in Bulgaria.. there would be great internal

opposition ta tighting against the Tsar.44 Moreover.. Britain's entry into the war on August

4 constituted an additional motivation behind Ferdinand's temporizing vis-à-vis the

Central Powers. Not only did Great Britain represent a tormidable tighting torce.. but the

absence ofdirect British strategie interests in the Balkans~ as weIl as the support which

British Bulgarophiles had lent ta Bulgarian national aspirations over the preceding two

decades.. were widely recognized within Bulgarian political circles. On the other hand.. the

Opposition was divided.. and with the minor exception of sorne small groups directly

subsidized by the Russian legation.. none dared openly to calI for Bulgaria's entry into the

war on the Allied side:~5 The idea ofrendering direct military assistance to Serbia was an

anathema ta ail segments of Bulgaria society.

43 Sir Henry Bax-lronside to Sir Edward Grey; 19140806. David Stevenson.. ed. The First World War.
1914-19 J8. (part Il, series H, vol. 1. British Documents Qf Foreiin Affairs. eds. Kenneth BQume and
D. Cameron Watt. University Publications ofAmerica, [989) 5.

44 CramptQn,435.

4S Sorne did go SQ far as ta suggest that for Bulgaria tQ align itselfagainst the Entente would be a "fateful
mistake." Only in March 1915 did the Opposition, encouraged by initial Anglo..French successes in the
Dardanelles, begin openly to cali for Bulgariats immediate entry intQ the war. [van [lcev, ItGreat
Britain and Bulgaria's Entry lotQ the First World War (1914.. 1915).1t Buliarian HistQrjcal Reyjew
(10.4 (1982): 29-48) 34,40.
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Although Britain had hitherto declined to interfere in the Balkan tangle, the arrivai

of the Gennan cruisers Goeben and Breslau in the Dardanelles on August 8 and their

nominal sale to Turkey made it obvious that the Ottoman Empire was inclined to join the

Central Powers:~6 At the outset of the war, Prime Minister Eleutherios Venizelos of

Greece had suggested that the way to deter Ottoman intervention would be to reconstitute

a Balkan bloc. As a prerequisite to such a scenario, however. Serbi~ Greece, and

probably Romania would have to make concessions to Bulgaria to compensate for its

[osses in the Second Balkan war. As an inducement, the Entente offered Bosnia.

Hercegovina.. and an outlet on the Adriatic to Serbia.. and to Greece concessions in Asia

Minor, but neither country proved receptive. Grey rejected Sazonov's suggestion that the

Entente exert pressure on Greece or Serbia for fear it might alienate them:H Although the

vague Entente suggestions had made little immediate impression on Ferdinand and

Radoslavov:~8on August 15 Bax-Ironside nonetheless reported that "prospects ofa

Balkan contèderation look far from hopeless" .~9 On August 24. however, Radoslavov

once again informed Bax-Ironside of Bulgaria's continued determination to maintain its

neutrality.50

~6 Rabbins, 1971,565.

47 Kenneth 1. Calder. Britain and the Qriiins oOhe New Europe. 1914-1918 (Cambridge: Cambridge
UP. 1976) 31.

48 Rabbins, [971, 565.

49 Sir Henry Bax-Ironside to Sir Edward Grey; 1914 08 15. Stevenson.. 25.

50 Sir Henry Bax-Ironside ta Sir Edward Grey; 19140824 and [914 08 26. Ibid., 47.. 49.
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On August 18, meanwhile, the Entente had offered to guarantee Ottoman

independence in retum for its strict neutrality. However, the Ottoman reply of August 20

demanded additional concessions, which Grey considered excessive.51 On the same day

that the Entente made its offer to Turkey, Venizelos.. fearing that Turkey might possibly

declare war on Greece alone, made a formal offer ta place the naval and military forces of

Greece at the disposaI of the Entente powers. However. fearing that acceptance of

Venizelos' overture would immediately bring Turkey. and possibly even Bulgaria into the

war on the opposite side.. the British Cabinet decided to express cordial acknowledgment

to Venizelos.. but not to accept the offer. Grey also professed to be concemed about the

Russian reaction to possible Greek designs on Constantinople52 and was certainly

conscious of Moslem sensitivity in Egypt and India.53 At any rate.. he believed that Sir

Louis Mallet.. the British minister in Constantinople.. who was close to the Grand Vizier,

Said Halim Pasha.. would be able to keep the peaceS4 and forestall any demarche by the

leaders ofhawkish Committee of Union and Progress.. the effective ruling party ofthe

Ottoman Empire.55

51 Rabbins. 1971. 566.

52 Ibid.

53 Paul Guinn. British Strilte&y and PoUlies 1914 Jo 1918. (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1965) 42.

54 Churchill had not helped matters by impounding on July 28 two unfinished Turkish banleships from a
shipyard on the Tyne river in Britain. As the construction ofone of the vessels had been fmanced
through a popular subscription in Turkey, their detention caused widespread resentment of Britain
throughout the Ottoman Empire.

S5 Winston S. Churchill, The World COsjs. (vol. LToronto: Macmillan Company ofCanada Ltd., (923)
530. The Ottoman Empire was in theory a constitutional monarchy in which the reigning Sultan Caliph
and his ministers were controlled by an elected parliament. However. following a military coup in
January 1913, the Unionists had achieved supreme military and political power, and had proceeded to
consolidate their authority. Ultimate authority lay neither within the cabinet nor even within the
Unionist Party's central committee. but within an inner circle ofhighly pIaced and influential
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[n actuality, unbeknownst to the powers of the Entente, on August 2 a secret

offensive-defensive alliance, directed against Russia in anticipation ofan imminent intra-

Balkan conflict, had already been signed between Germany and Turkey, under the aegis

ofEnver Bey, concomitantly MinisterofWar and Chief of Staffof the Ottoman Empire.

With the support ofTalat Bey and Halil Bey, respectively Minister of the Intenor and

President of the Lower House ofParliament, and the reluctant cooperation of the Grand

Vizier, Enver held the means to torce the incumbent Turkish government into compliance

with Berlin.56

For the time being, however, after mobilizing on August 3, Turkey had been

content ta declare its neutrality and wait ta see how the military situation wauld develap

prior to committing its armed torces.57 So as not ta upset the delicate palitieal balance in

Constantinople, Germany hesitated to put cancerted pressure on the Turks, who in any

case acted as a check on the smaller Balkan states.58 [n any event, it was obvious that the

conception of neutrality held by Bulgaria and the Ottoman Empire tàvored the cause of

the Central Powers, which already were using Bulgaria as a supply Hne ta Turkey.59

individuals: Talat Bey, Minister ofthe lnterior and the most powerful individual in the Empire, Halil
Bey, president of the lower house ofparliamen~ Cavid Bey, Finance Minister. Cemal Bey. Minister of
the Navy, and Enver Pasha, Minister ofWar. While the Grand Vizier, who also heId the office of
Foreign Minister was not a puppet, he lacked the strong personal following associated with his
colleagues. Both individual initiative and mutual intrigue flourished. F. A. K. Yasamee, "Ottoman
Empire." DecisjoDs for War 1914. (ed. Keith Wilson. New York: St. Martints Press, 1995) 230-232.

56 Ibid. 237.; Sir Louis Mallet to Sir Edward Grey; 191409 16 and 19140920. Stevenson. 80.88.

57 Under the terms of the alliance. Turkey and Gennany were to maintain strict neutrality in the newly­
opened hostilities between Austria and Serbia. Should, however. Russia enter the war, thereby
occasioning German intervention, Turkey was to follow suit. Ultimately. a revised and more
comprehensive treaty was drawn up and signed in early 1915. Zeman, 59, 64.

58 Ibid., 57

59 Ibid., 75.
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At the end of August the military situation of the Entente was precarious as weIl.

On the western front, Belgium had been overrun by Gennany and the French army was in

full retreat" while in the east the initially promising Russian invasion of Eastem Prussia

had culminated in disaster at Tannenberg. Although Serbia had repulsed the first Austro-

Hungarian invasion and the Russians were routing the Austrians at Lemberg it seemed

oruy a matter oftime until German reinforcements would arrive from the v{est. MOleover"

until early 1915. aImost ail the news in the Bulgarian press from the eastem front would

originate from Austrian or German sources.60

On September 1. Bax-[ronside reported that Bulgaria was likely to join the

Central Powers at any moment.. and that only a guarantee of "compensation ... ta

Bulgaria by her neighbours who may gain territory elsewhere" might forestall action on

the part of the Bulgarians.61 The Entente reacted oruy with a weak statement by the three

Allied ministers in Sotia ta the effect that their respective governments had

60 Ibid." 77.; Sir Henry Bax-lronside to Sir Edward Grey; [9140901. Stevenson" 49.

61 Sir Henry Bax-lronside to Sir Edward Grey; 19140901. Stevenson" 58. Five days later. however.
Bax-lronside reported that "Rumoured preparations against Servia and Greece are exaggerated" and we
may, at any rate, count upon Bulgaria remaining quiet until Turkish policy is decided upon." Sir Henry
Bax-lronside to Sir Edward Grey; 1914 09 06. Stevenson 70.
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suggested to Servia and Greece to discuss with Bulgarian Government
questions of redistribution of territories if Bulgaria engages to range herself on
the side of Greece and Servia.62

For obvious reasons~ this failed to register in Sofia. From the perspective ofNoel Buxton

and rus like-minded colleagues in London~ the diplomacy of the Entente in the Balkans

had been not ooly clumsy and indecisive~ but an abject failure.

62 Sir Edward Grey ta Sir Henry Bax-Ironside; 1914 OS 28 and 191409 06. lbid.~ 51, 71.
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CHAPTERII

Prominent among those in the British Cabinet who, due in part ta Noel Buxton's

influence, had taken issue with Sir Edward Grey's Balkan policy, were Cabinet ministers

David Lloyd George (Chancellor of the Exchequer), Winston Churchill (First Lord of the

Admiralty), and Charles Masterman (Chancellor of the Duchy of Lancaster; aIso in

charge ofpropaganda operations in America). They believed that acceptance of

Venizelos' offer would have shown Bulgaria and Romania that Britain was committed ta

the Balkans, thereby encouraging bath neutraIs ta join Serbia against Austria-Hungary.l

Along with Buxton_ they aIso favored a policy ofextracting by tarce.. ifnecessary, the

required concessions ta Bulgaria tram Serbia and Greece.

Since the beginning of the war_ Buxton had persistently impressed his views,

derived from "special sources of information regarding political factors in Bulgaria,"2

upon aIl men of power in the British government. In the fol1owing memorandurn, which

he had submitted direetly ta Sir Edward Grey in rnid August.. Buxton had outlined the

foundations ofhis altemate Balkan poliey, and intraduced his proposai that he be sent on

a mission ta Bulgaria in support of the Entente:

Assuming that H. M. Government's abject is ta prevent Bulgaria's adhesion
to the German side, Bulgaria's particular point ofview must be remembered.

(1) Her eyes are on her "lost provinces," and the breach between them and
the three Powers which took them is very deep.

(2) Bulgarians are ofcalculating disposition. The possible gain from a victory
of the Entente counts less than the present dangers in which Bulgaria stands
fram a Turkish attack. A guarantee against Turkey would be the chief lever to

l Robbins, 1971, 566.

2 Noel Buxton to Sir Edward Grey (repeated to David Lloyd George), quoted in Fieldhouse, 182.
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use. Bulgarian neutraIity should he attainable ifH. M. government can be
explicit on this point" while offering further advantages in the event of success
of the Entente.

(3) [n regard ta Bulgaria., special effort is needed, because Sir H. Bax­
[ronside has been openly pro-Serb.3

(4) Bulgarians feel that what they have to offer is freedom for Serbia"
Rumani~ and Greece to take part in the war. It might be answered that
Bulgaria is not able to fight, but it is very noticeable that in a recent debate in
the Sobranje all parties spoke of fighting as probably inevitable. Bulgaria has
munitions to begin a war, though probably requiring a loan.

Assuming that H. NI. Government wishes to prevent the paralysation of
Serbia through a Bulgarian attack, or through the passage ofTurkish armies
across a neutral Bulgaria. the abject in view is armed Bulgarian neutrality,
giving the Entente freedom tram Turkish anack and from the paralysation of
Bulgaria's neighbours. [t is much more than pacitic neutrality.

Conditions for securing armed Bulgarian neutrality are:
(1) Guarantee against Turkey.
(2) Assurance that England and France and Russia will continue to act

together in this guarantee.
(3) Detinite approach from England. English support or acquiescence in

Russian proposaIs is not enough. The Bulgarian Ministry came into office as
anti-Russian.. and could not execute a volte-face unless the Premier could say
he had not turned pro-Russian, but was siding with England.

(4) Revision of the Bukarest [sic] Treaty frontiers in the event ofvîctory for
the Entente. This must be more or less specifie.

(5) A loan.

Ta bring Bulgaria to the side ofGreece and Serbia the fullest possible effort
is needed. The events of 1913 show what is required.

The breach between the Balkan States was always deep. The League of 1912
was regarded as a miracle. The second war (which destroyed the League) is
only remediable by the intervention ofan outside Power with immense
influence.. at the moment ofgreat need ofassistance.. and with definite offers of
help.

A strong lead in 1913 might have avoided the second war. Russia was
inadequate because suspected. An English proposai for compromise might
succeed now. A special mission.. or very dermite proposaIs, might equally
succeed.

3 Although Buxton was exaggerating, Crampton, 444 comments that the Bax-Ironside did suifer trom a
Jack ofconviction in the Entente efforts to woo Bulgaria. llcev. 44 reports that it was the general
conviction that Bax-Ironside was unable to cape with his task. that campelied Grey ta replace him on
Iuly 7, 1915 Accarding to Rabbins, 1971.579 his departure was widely interpreted in Sofia as tardy
praofof British determination to redress the grievances between the Entente and Bulgaria.
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Even if our Ministers in the Balkans would think it irregular for a special
eommissioner to be sent., the abject in view is paramount. Punctilio should not
interfere with the possible acquisition ofnew forces on the side of the Entente
Powers, turning the balance in their favour. An active policy, may, as it were~
eount on a division involving a difference of fully a million men, i. e., when the
Austrian troops at present set free are reckoned.4

The "special cammissioner" Buxton had in mind was. of course, himself. However. Grey,

naturally reluctant to depart from his accustomed diplomatie procedures, and long

resentful of Buxton's meddling, was unimpressed. Neither he nar Asquith thought it wise

to risk compromising relations with Greece and Serbia.5 Furthermore, it was generally

assumed in the Foreign Office that diplomacy in war would achieve nothing unless it was

supported by favorable military action.6 Foreign poliey would theretore be detennined

not by long-tenn political considerations but by immediate strategie necessity.

Nevertheless, in late August, while on his honeymoon in Scotland with the tonner

Lucy Pelham Bum, Buxton received a wire from Masterman to the effect that the Cabinet

had decided to act upon the memorandum after ail. Buxton emphasized that.. according to

the telegram, Grey was "included in cabinet, assenting."7 Buxton theretore "raced back"

from Scotland, and met several times with Lloyd George. accompanied by his brother and

.. Noel Buxton's memorandum to Sir Edward Grey; August 1914; copy. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3.

5 Keith G. Robbins. "Foreign Policy, Govemment Structure and Public Opinion." (Hins1ey 532-546)
539.

6 Calder attributes the unwillingness of the Blitish Foreign Office to accept a dominant role in the making
ofpolicy, and its willingness to submerge politica1 considerations for the sake ofstrategy. to what he
terms its "disintegration " during the frrst year of the war; the transfer of Eyre Crowe to the contraband
departrnent, the replacement ofSir William TyrreU, Grey's private secretary, by Eric Drummond, the
apparent inability ofboth Sir Arthur Nic01son and Grey to unable to adjust to the war and its effects on
the condue! offoreign policy, etc.. Calder. 29.

7 Noel Buxton's autobiography draft; n. d.; copy. N. B. P.: Box 64; File 1. More complete and polished
versions can be round in Box 12; File 1, and also Box 9.
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partner in many Balkan ventures, Charles Roden Buxton. At length, Lloyd George

provided Noel Buxton with the following note, dated August 22:

Any Balkan state that decides ta throw in ils lot with the Triple Entente in this
struggle may depend upon the support of British Credit in raising the necessary
funds ta equip and maintain its arroy. 1authorize you to make such
arrangements on my behalfas you may deem desirable ta guarantee British
financial assistance under these conditions.8

In effect, the British Chancellor of the Exchequer was allowing him to pledge the

Treasury to loans ofany extent ta Bulgaria. According to Bu.xton.. "It sounded informai,

but it was essentially sound, because Ferdinand wanted money for himself and we might

have literally bought Bulgarian aid. ltq

Shortly afterwards however, Bu.xtan received a tàirly discouraging letter from

Churchill's private secretary. Edward Marsh. Buxton's annotations.. written \\Iith the Lord

of the Admiralty in mind, are repraduced here in italics:

Winston asks me to say that while Sir E. Grey would welcome your gaing out
as a private individuat he cannat see his way ta investing YOll with an official
chameter. How would Lloyd George's lerrer he acted on then? In these
circumstances Winston is sure you will not wish ta start till you have seen
Lloyd George again. [Churchilf] wants to avoid responsibility!10

On the reverse side of the sheet.. Buxton continued:

8 David Lloyd George to Noel Buxton; 19140822; copy. N. B. P.: Box 4.

q Noel Buxton's autobiography; n. d.; copy. N. B. P.: Box 12; File 1. Events would later suggest that this
may weil have been true. For instance. Ferdinand was thought to be susceptible ta flattery, and a
number afproselytizing German dignitaries were sent to his court. Conversely, the Entente made only
taken efforts in this regard. The Central Powers toak the initiative (and the prize) in financial matters as
well~ with assiduous Gennan agents working successfully to influence the Bulgarian press and gain
control over the countryts main ecanomic sectors. An infamous attempt in 1915 by the Entente ta buy
up the entire Bulgarian grain harvest~ known as the Des Closières affair, ended in a fiasco thanks to the
heavy-handed incompetence ofthe principal conspirators. Crampton~ 444.

lO Edward Marsh to Noel Buxton; 19140823; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 4.
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1do not think it is worthwhile seeing Lloyd George again ... Lloyd George's
view was tbat Churchill would cany matter ... he tbought Churchill agreed and
that my going involved letters of sorne sort from Grey, perhaps embodying his
(LG's) letter. This may be less tben Grey means by "official character." ... It
seems a pity to drop the scheme ... when the abject appears attainable. 1l

What Buxton seems quite conveniently to have ignored was that there was a

subtIe but significant difference between his conception ofthe "abject" orthe mission and

that of the Foreign Secretary. From the perspective of the British Foreign Office, a

benevolently neutral Bulgaria which was not particularly well-disposed to the aims of

Russian policy in the Balkans. probably was more desirable than the uncertain benefit

which its direct participation in the hostilities might have produced. l2 Moreover. Grey

undoubtedly preferred BuIgarian neutrality to the prospect of Bulgaria's joining the

Entente powers without having fust made peace with its neighbors. l3 Therefore, it has

been postulated that Grey recognized that the voluntary reconstitution of the 1912 Balkan

alliance was unlikely. but hoped that efforts to encourage such a course of action might

help to maintain the neutrality of the Balkan states until an appropriate moment arrived. 14

In the tirst two sections ofhis memorandum, Buxton had chosen to "assume" that

Grey wished concomitantly to "prevent Bulgaria's adhesion to the German side," and

"prevent the paralysation ofSerbia through a Bulgarian attack, or through the passage of

Turkish armies across a neutral Bulgaria." Buxton therefore concluded, correctly, that the

Il Noel Buxton notes; ca. 1914 08 24; on reverse of Ibid.

12 llcev.33.

13 Sir Edward Grey to Sir Henry Bax-Ironside; 191408 13 and 19140821. Stevenson. 21.39.

14 Ilcev.33.
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object of the Foreign Office was "armed Bulgarian neutrality". Conversely, in the third

section of the memorandum'l which unlike the fust two was not eventually published by

Buxton during the course of the war, it is clearly stated that the object of Buxton's

proposed mission would not he that of securing "armed Bulgarian neutrality," but rather

"To bring Bulgaria to the side ofGreece and Serbia."

Buxton belived that his mission potentially could facilitate the rebirth ofa Great

Bulgari~ wmch would represent the culmination of the Balkan Committee's dozen-odd

years of existence. As he wrote in his diary,

ft is horrible to urge a people 10 war. but it would be in Bulgaria's interest to do
50, this being the best (and probably the last) opportunity of recovering her
rights. IS

Moreover'l Buxton also figured that if Bulgaria's joining the Entente could hasten "even

by a week.. the conclusion of the war, [it] would mean the savings ofthousands of lives

and of millions of pounds"16 for England. It followed that it was not only expedient, but

morally justifiable to force Serbia and Greece into cooperation. Lloyd George and

Churchill supported this position, and their alliance with Buxton represented a mutually

beneficial partnership: The success of the mission, in Bu.xton's view. depended upon bis

being invested with official sanction, which Grey was unlikely to countenance without a

fight. Buxton's powerful friends in the Cabinet, on the other hand'l presumably conceived

of Buxton as an instrument ta put their own plans into action, since the President of the

15 Conwell-Evans.88 (emphasis mine).

16 Noel Buxton and Charles Roden Bu:<ton~ The War and the Balkans (London: George Allen & Unwin•
1915) 92.
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Balkan Committee constituted an obvious intermediary between the Entente and

Bulgaria.

However. when Buxton went to see Grey upon receipt of Churchill's message., the

Foreign Secretary., as Buxton had feared., "suppressed" Lloyd George's letter. Buxton was

given permission to travel to Sofi~ but on an unofficial basis ooly. and with the sole

mandate of reviving dormant Anglophile sentiments amongst the Bulgarian public. l ? He

was to cooperate with the British legation, and cammunicate with Grey through it. Grey

aIso discouraged Buxton from discussing politics any more than was absolutely necessary

ta gauge the general sympathies orthe Bulgarian politicians, and Buxtan was not under

any circumstances to caH tor Bulgaria's entry ioto the war. Buxton's recollections on the

subject reveal the divergence between the two men:

1told Grey that 1did not believe the trick cauld be done without official
authority, because it was a matter ofterritory which Bulgaria must have ... 1
doubted the use ofgoing without that. ls

Nonetheless.. Buxton agreed ta go.. despite the restrictions Grey had imposed upon his

activities. For whatever reason. the Foreign Secretary also decreed that the question of

whether or not Buxton had official sanction, and if so. the specifie nature ofhis mandate.,

was to be kept a secret within the Cabinet. In Sofi~ as we shaH see.. Bu.xton would tum

this last provision to his own advantage.

Churchill., meanwhile.. had written to Buxton as follows on August 31:

1want you to make yoUf friends in Greece and in Bulgaria realize the brilliant
but f1eeting oPPortunity which now presents itself., and ta assure them that

[1 Noel Buxtonls autobiography; o. d.; copy. N. B. P.: Box 12; File l.

[8 Ibid.



•
31

England's might and perseverance will not be withheld from any righteous
effort ta secure the strength and union of the Balkan peoples. 19

He also authorized Buxton ta publish in Sofia a statement ofpolicy~ which was

subsequently vetoed by Grey as weIl. It read~ in part:

[t is of the utmost importance to the future prosperity of the Balkan states that
they should act together. This is the hour when the metal can be cast into the
mould. It is only by reclaiming from Austria territories which belong naturally
ta the Balkan races that the means can be provided to satisfy the legitimate
needs and aspirations of aH the Balkan states...

The creation ofa Balkan Confederation comprising Bulgaria. Servia..
Roumania. Montenegro. and Greece~ strong enough to play an effective part in
the destinies of Europe.. must be the common dream ofail their peoples...

By acting together in unity and good tàith the Balkan States can now play a
decisive part~ and gain advantages which may oever again be offered. By
disunion they will simply condemn themselves to tear each others throats
without profit or reward., and left to themselves will play an utterly futile part
in the destinies of the world.20

* * *

•

On September L 1914. Noel and Charles Roden Buxton left London for Bulgaria..

aniving in Paris on the 2nd. From there they traveled by rail to the port of Brindisi.. Italy't

ajourney which proved somewhat more arduous than the brothers had anticipated.

Buxton., never one ta underplay his own sense of the dramatic. described the situation:

The Germans were tàr ioto france. Paris was expected ta tàll and the British
Embassy were packing up for Bordeaux. The Paris Lyons station was
barricaded.. in case ofa sudden stampede of the frightened population to get
away from the enemy. The train was 50 crowded that to get a rest one layon
the ground, in the corridor't taking it in turns to fmd space to do sa. Our luggage
had to provide for a possible long spell, but there was no porter to help carry
• ., 1
It...-

19 Winston Churchill to Nael Buxton; 19140831; copy. N. B. P.: Box 1.

20 Ibid.

21 Noel Buxton to Lucy Buxton; 19140903; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 16.
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Five days later, the brothers found thernselves stranded in Brindisi, where

Churchill was supposed ta have arranged for a warship, the H.M.S. Hussar, to convey the

Buxtons to SaIonica. However, the ship, as it tumed out, was lying off the coast, out of

sight and unable to approach the harbor for fear ofbeing intemed. It was only on

September 8 that the Buxtons were able ta arrange ta he fenied out to the waiting

vesse1.22 Buxton's comments to his wife on the incongruity of the situation were

appropriate ta the circumstances:

It is an amazing experience for a civilian ta be sent on a warship for the sake of
his influence as a purely private persan. [fthe desired influence were given by
making me official, it would be naturaI. As it is. the ship is much more
flattering.2J

He continued in melodramatic tàshion:

There is a poor bluejacket very ill on board. the doctor said dying unless he
was landed ... [but] our orders are to gel quick ta Sofiajor big liffairs ... The
captain scoffed at the idea ofdelaying for the man. Such is war...

Although Buxton's account may be exaggerated.. it underscores the impression that

Churchill had graced the expedition with far more importance than would seem

appropriate for an ostensible "study" mission.

Buxton concluded the letter home on a portentous note:

Our wireless man catches messages passing to the French or British admirais.
The last says the Turks are coming out of the Dardanelles, so we may meet the
Gaeben. If so we must fight and shaH he lucky if we knock sorne paint offher
... before she fmishes us.... Do not be alanned if you do not hear from me for
sorne rime.

22 Fordetails ofthejoumey see the various letters Noel Buxton wrote ta his wife while en route: N. B. P.:
Box 16; File 1a and 1b. The Buxtons were however pleasantly surprised by the warship, which they
tàund oot ooly larger than expeeted. but "made very smart for the admiralty's use" as weil. Noel
Buxton ta Lucy Buxton; 19140908; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 25; File 3.

23 Ibid. This is the source for the other quotations having ta do with the Hussar.
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However, they reached Salonica on the 9th without incident, and arrived in Sofia late on

the evening orthe lOth. Although Noel Buxton.. who spoke no Bulgarian.. was not

particularly weIl known in rural Bulgari~24 Sofia was another matter.. as his brother

Charles Roden explained:

His rame and popularity ... are quite impossible ta imagine ... samething
extraordinary, in fact without parallel. l come in for a considerable share of the
glory ... however.. he really does deserve something orthe kind for the way in
which he has gone grinding away at the subject of the Balkans throughout all
the years when nobody had any interest in it.25

Noel Buxton himselfcertainly was gratified by his reception, and wrote again ta ms wife

as follows:

Very glad we came, much to do here. Great relief to find that we are not too
late after getting alarming reports en route. 1wish 1couid give you news but
only open \vriting will reach you ... ft seems unlikely that we shaH be free to
return for sorne time.26

Nonetheless, how the brothers were to proceed in Sofia was a problem. First of

ait the British Minister, Bax-Ironside, regarded their arrivaI as an intrusion. He wired

immediately to Grey.. demanding to know whether Noei Buxton was to be regarded as a

special envoy of the government. The Foreign Secretary apparently declined ta answer

24 J. Swire, Buh:arian CQospjracy. (London: Robert Hate Ltd.• (939) 29. This was in CQntrast to. for
example. Buxton's close friend James D. Bourchier. pennanent Balkan correspondent of the Times, who
had actually been featured on a Bulgarian postage stamp. and Balkan Commiuee member and
renowned anthropologist Edith Durham. who was embraced by the Albanian peasanrry during her many
years of residence in mat cQuntry. Buxton's valiant efforts tQ organize reliefexpeditions to Macedonia
notwithstanding, there was probably not much to interest the peasants in the rhetoric ofa far-off
politician.

25 Charles Roden Buxton ta Lucy Buxton; 1914 11 01; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 25; File 3.

26 Noel Bu.xton ta Lucy Buxton; holograph; 191409 Il. N. B. P.: Box 16. It WQuid appear as though the
Buxtons had originally planned only fora week-Iong stay in Sofia: Dnevnik; [91409 [4. N. B. P.:
Box 59; File 3.
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the question directly, although he subsequently instructed hirn to pay for and send

whatever messages Buxton wished to the Cabinet.27 According to Buxton~ Bax-Ironside

relieved his feelings by "denouncing Bulgaria when we were dining with him, enabling

the servants to make known that he alluded to Bulgarians in general as 'those savages."'28

The Buxtons believed, however, that if their Minister could not be co-opted into their

plans, rus opposition could at leust he circumvented.

The Buxtons aIso saon tound themselves embroiled in a rather delicate diplomatie

situation. As the Buxtons seem to have anticipated..29 there was authoritative speculation

throughout the Balkans that Noel Buxton had come as a direct emissary of the British

government. Their exclusive passage aboard the Hussar was cited in support ofthis

view.3o This misapprehension gained further credence by virtue of Buxton's own

halthearted deniaIs as weIl as the silence of the British Foreign Office. Although Buxton

27 Noel Buxton's notes; n. d.; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 64. File 1.

28 Noel Buxton's autobiography; n. d.; copy. N. B. P.: Box 12; File l. Ba.x-Ironside. was characterlzed by
Buxton's friend J. o. Bourchier as "one of the only living Englishmen who had been living in Bulgaria
for several years. not to have liked and appreciated the Bulgarians." Noel Buxton's notes; n. d.;
holograph. N. B. P.: Box 64. File 1.

29 According to Buxton. the ItHussar ... was a great suceess. l
' Noel Buxton to Lucy Buxton; 19140920;

holograph. N. B. P.: Box 16. Interestingly, Buxton continued. "...No need to coneeal the fact now."
leaving one to wonder if he had been asked to do 50. Perhaps it had something to do with the tension
between Churchill and Grey. Churchill may also have wished simply to indulge in a linle gunboat
diplomacy.

30 For instance, Dnevnik, an independent Sofia newspaper, asserted that ''The mission of Messrs. Buxton
is to a cenain degree confidential. It is worthy of note that they were able to reach Salonica through
their passage aboard the S. S. Hussar." Dnevnik; 191409 14. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3. In mis thesis.
ail quotations from Bulgarian newspapers, except when specified otherwise, are taken from English
translations which were provided for the Buxtons on a daily basis by one Christos Stamatov. These
translations occasionally are eomplemented in the Buxton Papers by alternate translations of the same
articles which appeared in the London press at a much later date, as well as by overlapping articles in
Echo de Bulgarie. A comparison reveals that Starnatovrs handwritten versions. although clumsy, are
generally accurate. There is a handwritten Iis~ in French, of the major BuIgarian politieal parties, and of
the newspapers associated with them. N. B. P.: Box 64; File 1.
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was warned by the police not ta make any politieal statements. the faet that he was fumly

eommitted to Bulgaria's joining the Entente was common currency within Bulgarian

political circles. Buxton himselfcommented that "everyone knew what [ stood for; on the

other hand they could not estimate quite how far [ represented the British Govemment."31

Under the circumstances. Grey could not have failed ta anticipate that BLL'Cton~s oft-

expressed persona! vie\vs would naturally be attributed to the British Govemment itself.

[t would also appear as though Buxton was unable to restrain himself during the

course ofa newspaper interview which was published only a day or two after his arrivai.

Adroitly sidestepping the inevitable question regarding the nature ofhis "special

mission~" Buxton inquired of rus interviewer the latter's opinion on Bulgaria's Iikely role

in the War. The journalist responded that Bulgaria cherished a poliey of strict neutrality.

However. when the Bulgarian went on to stress that his country would "pursue her

national interests.." Buxton interrupted him:

Yes that is the point.... [but] tell me. then who YOll think most easily ... could
avenge the 10ss of Macedonia? ... England. only England. Qnly she will help
you ta get Macedonia ... make your relations with England more friendly!
Deeds are necessary. deeds are necessary! You ought to do something...32

Although Buxton left the precise nature of "something" to the imagination ofhis

counterpart" he subsequently disavowed his statements.. c1aiming that he had been

misquoted" and that in any case it was "not yet convenient to give statements for the press

about the mission."33

31 Noel Buxton's autobiography; n. d.; copy. N. B. P.: Box 12; File 1.

32 Dnevnik; ca. 191409 14. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3.•tConfonning with an oid habit the president of the
Balkan Committee began with reserve... l'

33 Mir; 191409 16. Ibid.
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The BtLxtons soon settled in at the Hotel Bulgaria, and appear to have passed the

next few days in private discussion with Bax-Ironside, Savinsky, and the French Minister

in Sofia. Buxton c1aimed, with sorne justitication,34 that the latter pair had "sent home

very sound opinions"35 following their discussions. Buxton subsequently concentrated ms

attention on various Bulgarian politicians. These included the National Liberal leader

Nikola Genadiev,36 the Young Liberal leader and government minister of finance Dimitur

Toncev, and ofcourse Radoslavov himself. In conversation with them, Buxton adhered to

Grey's guidelines, while Radoslavov reiterated his usuai assurances about his

determination to maintain strict neutrality.37 Radoslavov aiso promised to arrange an

audience with King Ferdinand.38

Buxton was more interested in the leaders of the Opposition, however. for.like

many ofhis London colleagues, he overrated their strength and rnilitancy.. and hence their

ability ta influence the ruling Government.39 Therefore.. in front of Ivan Gesov:w

34 Buxton apparently based this assertion on archivaI mateoal subsequently published by the Soviet
govemment, although he failed to cite any source. However. the Buxton Files do contain reprints of
telegrams exchanged between A. P. Izvolski, the former Tsarist ambassador to Pans.. and Sazonov..
following a meeting between lzvolski and Buxton in late 1914, which do support Buxton's views. N. B.
P.: Box 64: File 1.

35 Noel Buxton's autobiography: n. d.: copy. N. B. P.: Box 12: File l.

36 Genadiev.. believed at the beginning of the War to be the second most intluential politician in the
Liberal bloc (behind Radoslavov). was also a character of panicularly ill repute. The leader of the
National Liberal (or Stambulovist) party.. he had been Radoslavov's choice for Minister of Foreign
Affairs in the July 1913 govemment. Although his newspaper. VoUa.. was subsidized by the Austrian
Legation in Sofi~ he 50on split ranks with Radoslavov.. and in 1915 was assiduously courted by the
Entente. However, a number of previous transgressions, not to mention his apparent complicity in a
terronst bombing in Sofia in early 1915. weakened his position vis a vis his fonner allies.

37 Ilcev.. 35.

38 Noel Bu.xton to Sir Edward Grey; 191409 17; copy. N. B. P.; Box 59: File 3.

39 Ilcev. 39.
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Alexander Stamboliski;u Stojan Danev,42 Alexander Malinov;B and others, Buxton

misrepresented Grey's position and cautiously hinted that Great Britain favored a more

active Bulgarian policy.44 However~ while it is not impossible that there might have been

political forces in Bulgaria capable ofperhaps curtailing the Government's freedom of

action had they received sustained support from abroad~ols there was certain!y no

40 Ivan Evstratiev Gesov (1849-1924). whose family owned textile mills in both EngIand and Bulgari~

completed his education at the University of London. and was jailed as a subversive upon his retum ta
Bulgaria. He was subsequently rehabilitated as a political moderate. and becarne Prime Minister and
Minister for Foreign AtTairs from 1911 ta 1913. An author and playwright. Gesov was aIso a patron of
the arts and cultural activist. and was named president of the Bulgarian Academy afSciences in 1912.
AIthough his political star faded somewhat thereafter. he remained an outspoken leader in
theOpposition and appears to have been Buxton's main political confidant in Bulgaria. See letters from
[van Gesov ta Noel Buxtan: 1915 08 20; halograph. N. B. P.: Box 56a: File 1: 1915 02 27; holograph:
Box 57; File 8: 191506 15: holograph: Box 69; File 3.

41 Stamboliski (1879-1923) was the leader of the Bulgarian Agrarian People's Union, which espoused a
somewhat modified form afBolshevism. An extreme Russophile. he was imprisoned ter threatening the
lire of Ferdinand following the Bulgarian decision to side with the Central Powers in December 1915.
Released in September 1918. it was hoped that he would defuse an incipient revoit afdemoralized
Bulgarian soldiers who had been organized into detachments under the aegis of an Agrarian faction.
Instead. he betrayed his erstwhile jailers. fled into hiding when the revoit was suppressed. and was
finally invested with the Premiership by Ferdinand's son and successor. Tsar Boris III. in October,
1919. Stamboliski saon demonstrated increasingly authoritarian tendencies. and was murdered on June
9. 1923. during a military coup.

42 Also a Russophile. Danev had pIayed an active part in Bulgarian politics since the late 1890s, and had
participated in Gesov's cabinet as Minister far Foreign Affairs prior to succeeding him in early in 1913
as prime minister as well. Oanev himself was ousted in ravor of Radoslavov in Iuly of that same year,
but remained at the head of the Progress Liberal Party.

43 Malinov was the leader of the Democratie party and had been Premier from 1908 until his replacement
by Gesov in 1911. A staunch nationali~ especially with regard to Macedonia, he too was a Russophile
and hence friendly ta the Entente. On June 21, 1918, he succeeded Radoslavov. as Noel Buxton had
predicted back in November 19 14. Ofcourse, Buxton had anticipated a much more accelerated transter
ofpower. Noel Bu.xton ta Sir Edward Grey; 1914 11 17; copy. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3.

44 I1cev,35.

4S Ibid., 48.
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dominant figure or sufficiently united group which might have been able to engineer an

actual coup against the interests orthe Dual Alliance.46

Similarly, Buxton also appears to have been subject to the misconception that

public opinion in Bulgaria was as politically effective as it was in Britain, although any

hopes he might have entertained ofmobilizing the peasants to the cause of the Entente

were soon dashed. Shortly after his arrivai.. he received a letter from one Edward Haskelt

of the American Mission in Phillipopolis, whose opinion Buxton seems to have held in

high regard. Haskell asserted that "the thought of 'the man on the street,' the common

people" was rather with the Dual Alliance than the Entente.. thereby.. according to Noel

Buxton's annotation.. "showing the difficulty ofour mission."47 Haskell pointed out that

the position of Austria with respect to Serbia was analogous to that of Russia vis à vis

Bulgaria. A victorious Triple Alliance could elevate Bulgaria to a position ofdominance

over the Balkan peninsula, whereas in the event of an Entente victory.. Serbia.. Greece..

and Rumania would be in position to insist on the maintenance of the Bucharest treaty.

British ideals would be then swept aside for.. in the eyes ofmany 8ulgarians.. "Russia is

without conscience.. ruthless and brutal."48 Haskell did conclude his report on a more

positive note:

A dismembered Austria removes the one great Bulgarian defense against
Russia - unless England will defmitely and irrevocably pledge herself to

46 Crampton.445.; Ilcev.48.

47 Noel Buxton's annotation on Edward B. Haskell to Noel Bu.'Cton; 191409 16; holograph. N. B. P.:
Box 57; File 5.

48 Edward B. Haskell to Noel Buxton; 1914 09 16; holograph. Ibid.
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maintain Bulgaria's integrity and cause. [f she does this in writing she doubtless
will get the favour of Bulgaria.49

Noel Buxton had already drawn similar conclusions, believing that the logic of the

situation left no other alternative. As early as September 14th~ Gesov asserted in Utro, an

independent paper, that the "noble Englishman brings something for Macedonia and

Dobruja."so

[n general.. however.. Buxton was too experienced a politician to he pinned him

down on specifies, unless he himself was so inclined. Charles Rodeo gave sorne accaunt

of his brother's methods:

He is fertile in ideas and ofcourse beats aIl the protèssional diplomatists
hollow ... his diplomacy is never ta answer anyone's questions directly, and if
he does not want ta answer at all to pretend not to understand the question. At
such moments rus French, which is otherwise tolerable, becomes extremely
bad.. and cao be made when he chooses.. totally unintelligible.51

Intelligible or otherwise.. the succession of interviews continued unabated. ln bis diary,

Noel Buxton wrote that

calIers generally arrived before we tinished dressing, clamoring at the door of
our raom as is the custom of Balkan lands.. and the day ended in long after­
dînner conversations.52

Although many such meetings must naturally have escaped the attention or interest of

media commentators, a fair number did receive sorne mention either in the press or~ on

49 Ibid. At this stage, the idea ofa separate peace with Austria-Hungary was still favored in London. See
Calder, 93 ft:

50 Ulra; 191409 14. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3.

51 Charles Rodeo Buxton to Lucy Buxton; 1914 Il 01; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 25; File 3.

52 Conwell-Evans, 91.
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occasion~ in Noel Buxton's notes. For instance, on the 15th~ the Buxtons reportedly met

with the leaders of the Radical partyS3 and with Stamboliski of the Agrarian party as

welt54 prior to an extended after-dinner conversation with Radoslavov. The Bu.xtons

were apparently pleased with their reception at the hands of the Prime Minister.55

A meeting between Buxton and a three-member delegation from an organization

called the Bulgarian National LeagueS6 was aIso widely reported. The delegates were said

to have expressed their gratitude tor pas! British efforts on behaIf of Bulgaria, but aIso

alluded ta udeep wounds ... inflicted to Bulgaria by sorne tTiends of Britain.nS7 In

response, Buxton rather presumptuously reassured his interlocutors that Sir Edward Grey

would never forget Bulgarian aspirations.s8 Ofcourse, the delegates were not so naive as

ta assume that Britain would redress Bulgaria's territorial grievances without expecting

something tangible in return. JVarodni Prava, the officiai Liberal party organ, therefore

countered Buxton's statement \vith the assertion that

no Bulgarian can find in himselfthe strength to help neighbors who ruined him
... our nation is tired from the past wars and is satistied with the declared
neutrality of the government.59

53 N. Tzanov and L. Gheorgov. Dnevnik; 191409 16. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3.

54 V/ro; 191409 16. Ibid.

55 Mir; 191409 16. Ibid.

56 In response to Noe1 Buxton's inquiry, the delegates asserted that the League was not affiliated with any
poIitical party, but was simply a cultural organization~ which promoted the development ofa national
Bulgarian consciousness.

57 Viz. Serbia and Greece. Narodni Prava; 191409 15. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3.

58 Ibid. ln actuality, Grey and his F. O. colleagues, exasperated by the incessant lobbying of the Balkan
Committee, apparently had obtained a perverse sense of satisfaction over the Bulgarian disaster in the
Second Balkan War. Rabbins, 1977, "Public... " 86.

59 Narodni Prava: 191409 15. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3.
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The newspaper aIso took care to mention that the delegates from the National League•

representative of the country as a whole by inference of the fact that "they were not

representatives ofpoliticaI parties," supported the Government position.60 Similarly,

Kambana, a semi-official Austrophile publication, declared that "whatever negotiations

May be started with the representatives of the Entente the result for the present will be a

failure," given the obvious commitment to Serbia on the part orthe Entente.61 However,

the hope was also expressed that

the excellent reception and the sincere sympathy towards the tàtherland of
Gladstone which the exalted guests [i. e. the Buxtons] are receiving at Sofia
have convinced them that Bulgaria ... does not foster any inimical feelings
tawards Great Britain nar considers that Bulgarian interests will ever come ioto
canfliet with British interests.62

According ta a newspaper article ofSeptember 16. the aged Bulgarian Exarch

JosefaIso spoke out against Noel Buxton's policies. Although the exarch protèssed to

believe that through Buxton "Bulgaria in a short time will reaIize ail her ideals:' he

reportedly continued as follows:

[t is ridieulous to speak for Serbo-Bulgarian friendship ... England is a
preeminently realistic state. but gives birth also to great romanties, among
whom is Noel Buxton ... [whol will aeknowledge that it is impossible for
Bulgaria to sacrifice not a single soldier in help of Servia. who at the moment
when her life is hanging on the thread again continues exterminating the
Bulgarian population in Maeedonia ... . .. [nonetheless] we are hoping that we
shaH find the sympathy ofGreat Britain ... our policy is not contrary to British
interests in the east.63

60 Ibid.

61 Kambana; 191409 16. N. B. P.: Box 59: File 3.

62 Ibid.

63 n. p.; 191409 16. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3. Stamatov did not specify which newspaper ran the story,
aJthough it was definitely not Narodni Prava.
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It is interesting to note the overall similarity between the exarch's remarks and thase

previausly expressed in iVarodni Prava and Kambana, especially as the former journal in

five days' time was belatedly "authorized to communicate that at no time ... did His

Beatitude say that which was attributed to him in the press. lt64 It is not implausible that

the belated retraction was politically motivated., bearing in mind that exarch was a

powerful presence in Bulgaria. Radoslavov and Ferdinand still desired at this stage to

keep their options open., and may have deemed impolitic the albeit popular stance

attributed to Josef.

In any event. the original "Exarch and Mr. Buxton" article was aIso notable as one

of the tirst in Sofia to reter to unproven allegations in the Greek press that Buxton.,

contrary to appearances., was operating only on an unofficial basis as a representative of

the Balkan Committee. The Greek c1aims, as weil as similar accounts which saon

materialized in Austrian and Turkish newspapers as weIl.. were generally dismissed in

Bulgaria, where it was assumed that they were based on political prejudice rather than on

tàct.6S Even Kambana specified on the 16th that the Buxtons were on "a mission from the

... English government itself.1t In a not unrelated assertion., the newspaper aIso reported

that Noel Buxton had explicitly confirmed ttthat Great Britain supports the idea ofa Great

Bulgaria.1t66

64 Narodni Prava; 1914 09 21. Ibid.

65 Not altogether unlikely, as the British Cabinet seems to have kept the secret until September 24. infra,
55.

66 Kambana; 191409 16. N. B. P.: Ibid.
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After spending the afternoon ofSeptember 16 with the leaders of the Narrow and

Broad Social Democratie parties.67 the Buxtons were received in the evening by King

Ferdinand't who had hitherto refused to see any representative of the Entente. Although

the forty-five minute audience may only have been intended as an act ofcourtesy towards

the president of the Balkan Committee, Charles Roden Buxton recalled that his brother

still tried to profit from the opportunity:

With the wily oid king of Bulgaria, who refused to ask questions and would
only listen. bis [Buxton's] powers were put to a stifftest. He had to deliver a
long speech. the monarch nodding at intervais deferentially. He managed to
convey several disagreeable [notions] ... such as the reputation lost in England
by Bulgariafs beginning the second war.68

This \-vas presumably intended as a warning to Ferdinand that British support for

Bulgarian aspirations was no longer inalienable. In his diary, Noel BLLxton himself

pronounced similarly upon the aîfair:

[Ferdinand] rnanaged ta hold his tangue but to seem very eager ...asked about
the position of the King of Italy and Roumania. He would express no opinion
except in tàvour of neutrality. He said 'J'écoute. mais je ne réponds pas. Nous
devons rester comme dans un petit cocon.' His position of sitting on the fence
waiting for the highest bidder could not have been more neatly or cynically
expressed.69

Although Ferdinand's performance was prototypical ofwartime diplomacy't his reticence

might also be interpreted as a question of protocol. Noel Buxton.. after ail. could hardly

have misrepresented himselfto the King as an official emissary't had Ferdinand cared to

inquire about rus status. Ofcourse, Buxton, as alluded to above, was operating under the

67 Narodni Prava; 191409 16. N. B. P.: Ibid.

68 Charles Roden Buxton to Lucy Buxton; 1914 II 01; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 35; File 3.

69 Conwell-Evansy 92.
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misguided assumption that in any case the Bulgarian Opposition ministers could, in

conjunction with an aroused populace, override Ferdinand's pro-German inclinations.

On the 17th ofSeptember, Buxton wired an "Outline of Scheme" to Grey. He

deferentially devoted most of the text to an analysis of the state of public opinion in

Sofia, based on the views ofhis "many friends, official and unofficial among various

political parties." He reported that, unlike France and Russia, Britain had not been totally

discredited by its passive acceptance of Serbia's refusa! in 1913 to honor its prior

agreement with Bulgaria apropos of Macedonia. Nonetheless, Bntain was considered

unlikely to intluence a final postwar settlement and Bu.xton advised Grey at least ta

endorse a conditional offer regarding the return of Dobruja, and fumish Bulgaria with a

loan.7o This, he suggested.. was the minimum required to

justifY change of tront by Radoslavaff, or to facilitate reconstruction of Cabinet
on lines tàvourable to the Entente ... British activity on above lines would tum
opinion towards policy nominally neutral but benevolent towards Entente by
which Bulgaria would relieve Servia, Greece and Roumama from fear ofattack
and would hold frontier against Turkey, thus greatly increasing military
difficulties of Austria.71

The wire was in effect linle more that an abbreviated version of the first two

sections of Buxton's August memorandum, despite the passage ofone month's time and

seven days of intense and intimate conferring in the Bulgarian capital itself. Ofcourse,

70 Back on September 14, Grey had communicated the following to Radoslavov: "His Majesty's
Government might be prepared to consider sympathetically question ofa loan ifapproached by
Bulgarian Govemment. An essential condition woulcL ofcourse, be definite assurance of Bulgarian
neutrality, and we could in any case give no promise beforehand either that the loan could be raised in
present circumstances or that the London market can absorb it alone." Sir Edward Grey to Sir Henry
Bax Ironside; 191409 14. Stevenson, 80. The wording ofthe note was hardly calculated to inspire
confidence however.

71 Noel Buxton to Sir Edward Grey; 191409 17; copy. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3.
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bearing in mind that Ferdinand and Radoslavov had been buying time through their

affrrmations of "strict neutrality," it is conceivable that the political situation in Bulgaria

simply had not changed significantly aver the period. Turkey was not yet openly

committed to the Central Powers~ and the eastern and western military fronts had

stabilized.72 The average Bulgarian'l the general outrage over persistent reports ofalleged

Serbian and Greek atrocities in Macedonia notwithstanding, was in no hurry for war

thanks to the previous years' slaughter.

Moreover, Buxton's "scheme" could of course he trurnped at any time by an offer

from the Central Powers~ which had the luxury ofbargaining with what was from their

standpoint enemy territory.73 Perhaps the derivative nature of Buxton's tirst wire to Grey

constituted a tacit admission ofhis failure so far ta praduce anything new or cancrete that

might justify a change of policy on the part of Grey and the Foreign Office. The Foreign

Secretary, of course, was resigned to Serbian and Greek intransigence.. and believed

correctly that the loci of political power in Bulgaria lay with the uncooperative Ferdinand

and Radoslavov. He certainly did not share Buxton's conviction that the supposed will of

the people would prevail.

72 The German drive to overwhelm France had finally been checked at the September 6-10 Battle of the
Marne, when they were forced iDto retreat by an Allied counterattack. By September 14, however, the
Germans had established lines of defense along the Aisne river which would remain relatively stable for
the duration of the conflict. Meanwhile~ the Russians had consolidated their victory over Austria­
Hungary at lembergy and were continuing through Galicia towards Cracow. To the north, although a
small but effective German force was threatening to advance on Warsaw, it amounted to Little more than
a diversionary raid.

73 Viz. ail ofMacedonia and Thrace, and dominance over the Balkans thanks to the destruction ofSerbia
and reduction ofGreece.
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By this time, Noel Buxton had also realized that his own personal popularity in

Sofia would not necessarily translate into support for his cause. For instance.. he and rus

brother were receiving numerous tlattering messages trom the representatives of various

Bulgarian national or political organizations. One such telegram began:

The whole of Bulgaria., always unanimous in strong sentiments ofsincere
respect for the fatherland of the great Gladstone" and towards her great cultural
ideals.. is tilled withjoy on the occasion ofyour significant visit during these
critical days of the great European conflagration... "74

Above the text.. Noel Buxton wrote: IlA sample of our welcome. The press is erammed

with articles in same train but olten against our poliey." Nonethe1ess.. his belief in the

willingness and ability of the Opposition ministers and general public to pressure their

Government into an alliance with the Triple Entente remained unshaken. Ofcourse"

Buxton's optimism depended.. in his view.. upon his advice being heeded in London.

One of the inherent weaknesses ofGrey's position on Maeedonia was in tàct

exposed two days later. During the course ofan interview with Utro .. Buxton maintained

Grey's line and stated that Macedonia could only be returned ta Bulgaria after the War.

The Bulgarian joumalist's response was revealing:

We hear also that the dual alliance have also promised to give it ta us after the
end orthe war. Since the Triple Entente and the Dual Alliance are giving to us
Macedonia all after the end of the war" isn't it better even now to occupy it, and
ta enjay it at least in these traubled times, and after the end of the war, you
may decide ta whom you shall give it?

74 Leading Citizens ofPhillipopolis to Noel Buxton; 19140922; copy. Ibid. Most such telegrams had to
do with the situation in Macedonia or Dobrodj~or. as was the case in this instance. expressed the
senders' gratitude for Noel Buxton's work in the Balkan Committee.
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Although Buxton wisely declined to answer, it supposedly was understood that "he

shared the rightness of the Macedonian demand."75

The Buxtons persevered in their efforts~ visiting on September 17 the country

town of Kostenets-Banya. From there they proceeded to another village, Tchan Koury~

before returning to the capital on the 18th.16 On the morning of the next day they met

with the president of the Dobruja Society.. K. Spesarevsky. who expressed his hope that

Noel Buxton \vould be "an arbiter and protector of the weak and persecuted.. who the

Kingdom of Bulgaria is unable to help."77 According to Dnevnik.. an independant paper,

Noel Buxton "manifested a great interest towards the cause of the Dobrodja," and

promised "to work for the rights of the Dobrodja people."78 However.. Spesarevsky later

claimed that Buxton had dismissed him with the remark that "At the post-war peace

contèrence the Dobrodja question will be considered as weil. but try ta come to an

understanding with the Romanians even now."79

7S Vcro; 191409 19. Ibid. One Robert Thonesou. a British missionary. writing to Noel Buxton at a
slightly later date on behalf of the inhabitants of the town ofSamokov. echoed that view: "The one
condition that seems to hold out any hope of the acceptance of your proposais by Bulgarians ... is the
following: - The Alliance. if successful, will certainly deprive Servia of Macedonia.. and give that to
Bulgaria. The Entente provides much the same should it he victonous; for Servia would then acquire
Bosnia and Hercegovina .. , ln that case~ let the Entente now say to Bulgaria - tenter at once and take
possession: we shaH see to it that neither Servia nor Greece opposes you." With that tangible proof that
the Ententets promise was genuine. Bulgaria would gladly cast in her lot with the Entente:' Robert
Thonesou to Noel Buxton; 19140929; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 57; File 5.

76 There does not seem to be any record of the reception the Buxtons received at the hands of the
townspeople.

77 Dobrodja Association to Noel Buxton; 19140921; copy. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3.

78 Dnevnik; 19140920. Ibid.

79 Vira; 1914 09 27. Ibid.
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On the evening ofSeptember 19, the Bulgarian English Speaking League hosted a

receptian and banquet in honor of the Buxton brothers. [n attendance were at least nine

fanner or current govemment ministers, the president of Bulgaria's Supreme COllf4 the

country's Attarney General, the mayor ofSofia and bis two immediate predecessors, the

United States' Military Attaché.. and many other figures of importance.8o Tickets for the

affair.. advertised in the press as a "public lecture ... about the relations benveen England

and Bulgaria.." had also been available to the general public at least five days in

advance.81

Noel Buxtan introduced his first tormaI statement ofpolicy in Bulgaria by

acknowledging the tàvorable reception he and bis brother had received in the press.. and

remarked that his countrymen were in general sympathetic to the Macedonian cause.

However, Buxton had "not come ta Sofia amidst this enormous international crisis for the

exchange ofcompliments.." and so proceeded to broach the tapie ofhis mission:

It was very hard tor me ta leave my home just now.. when England is \vaging a
fateful war and [my] being very busy there. Very intluential men in London
asked me ta come.. and from the very tàct that 1came you can judge what a
great Înterest there is in England for the standpoint of Bulgaria. [ am pleased
with my coming to express ta you the English sympathy.. because.. as a friend
ofBulgaria, 1think that during this crisis she ought ta look on England.82

[n tacit acknowledgment of the fact that Ferdinand and Radoslavav were unlikely ta heed

his advice, Buxton immediately reminded ms audience that "Englishmen are interested in

80 Mir, 19140920. Ibid. The names of the individuals in question are also provided.

81 DnevniJc; 1914 09 15. Ibid.

82 Utro; 1914 0920. Ibid. Agam, Buxton's apparently awkward mannerofspeakmg can presumably be
attributed to the faet that his speech was translated mte Bulgarian by the newspapers, and than back
again iute English by Stamatov.
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you principally because they believe in govemment which is based on the will of the

govemed. lI Again, this might be taken to imply that the incumbent Bulgarian government

was unrepresentative~ and that the Bulgarian people should raUy around the Opposition

parties and carry the day.

Buxton continued as follows:

.. .in the present Great War, especially, they [Englishmen] are striving for the
rights orthe small nations ... For the future they wish a settlement which
should be a pennanent guarancy for peace; therefore they wish frontiers which
are solidly national~ so that there should not be ground for future war. In
addition to that they wish that the Balkan nations should confederate.... If the
Balkan nations were to spread up to their true ethnographie boundaries, they
could live in peace and prosperity.

As he approached the conc1uding phase ofhis lecture, the tenor of Buxton's oration

became rather more ominous. He warned his audience that, in fact, the Bulgarian question

actually did not rank high on the agenda of most politicians. and explained that

reservations regarding Bulgaria's attitude were growing even within the ranks of the

tbremost British Bulgarophiles. Aceording ta Buxton.. Bulgarians failed to recognize the

inevitability ofan Entente vietory.. and he emphasized "the invincible determination of

Great Britain ta employ its endless resources of men and ensure the victory."

Furthermore, a victorious Entente~ unlike the Central Powers, would provide for the

equitable delineation of the Balkan states. British support for Bulgarian claims would

depend however on the attitude of Bulgaria during the war:

Englishmen will reward those Balkan states which have been well-disposed
towards them. 1hope ... that you will support the English cause, so thnt the
decisive British influence at the coming [peace] congress should he in
support of the Bulgarian cause you must ereate a better and more
favourable impression in England. The present one must be substituted.
Concerning the ways, everyone will guess them. l don't wish to meddle in the
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Bulgarian policy ... l ask you only to secure your right to demand that England
support the Bulgarian rights when the time cornes...

Although it is difficult to distinguish points of substance from rhetoric in Buxton's

speech, Buxton certainly seemed to have violated Grey's guidelines, not to mention his

prohibition against political agitation in Bulgaria as weIl. This was certainly the view of

the Constantinople journal Tasfiri-Ejkiar, which asserted that in allowing Buxton "to

arrange at the capital a meeting against the policy of the cabinet~" Ferdinand and

Radoslavov were presumably paving the way for a change of policy. The editor ofSofia's

Volga rebutted in a tactful manner:

Mr. Buxton did not arrange a meeting in Sofia but an intimate conterence in
which he spoke very little about policy.... when the govemment~ trusting the
patriotism of the Bulgarian opposition.. is not taking measures for its
persecution, let this not be considered as a transitory means towards a new
course of its policy.83

Nonetheless.. Kambana summarized "the proposition with which he [Buxton] had come

from England" as an injunction to "Hold yourselves with the Entente."84 However,

according to the Bulgarian National Committee.. "the bloodshed.. the exterminations, the

violence and the atrocities" in Macedonia could be stopped only through its immediate

occupation. Should England cooperate.. Bulgaria and the Entente would be "inseparable

... Should she refuse ... all the promises and t1anery are in vain."85

83 Volga; 1914 10 01. Ibid. The editor's use of the tenn "intimate1t is inexplicable however.

84 Kambana; 19140920. Ibid. While the Serbs and Greeks often were accused ofexcessive 10quacityt
the Bulgarians were unlikely to have been impressed by excessive rhetoric. Buxton himself
characterlzed the BuIgarians as "practical and positive ... in their manner ofspeaking. Unlike their
neighbours~ they are accustomed to use enough words to explain their meaning and no more. Buxton
and Buxton, 71 .

85 Ibid.
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The Committee also expressed its distress at the thought that Bulgarian loyalty

seemed to be on trial, although the "Great friend of Bulgaria does not clearly say why."86

Although Buxton had in fact left the precise nature of the required change ofpolicy

ambiguous, it could certainly be interpreted as a calI at least for benevolent neutrality.

After ail., at the banquet which followed, Buxton expressed confidence that "Bulgaria,

with her attitude, will enable England to stand for her just aspirations." S7 However,

bearing in mind that Buxton had moments betbre defined a permanent settlement of the

Balkan problem as one based on ethnographie frontiers .. rus proposed "revision" of

current Bulgarian poliey could also be interpreted quite sensibly as no less than a demand

that Bulgariajoin the War immediately.

[n any case, the Buxtons apparently received congratulatory telegrams, "signed by

the presidents of almost all parties,"88 from the outlying provinces of Phillipopolis and

Varna, among athers. There was apparently no immediate reaction in otlicial British or

Bulgarian circles.. and on the following day the Buxtons visited the mayor of Sotia.. M.

Todorov. who returned the favor severai hours later. They also spoke at length with

Gesov.89 On September 21, Noel Buxton and Savinsky conferred for much orthe

morning at the Hotel Bulgaria. Prior to attending another banquet held in their honor in

86 Narodni Prava; 1914 1002. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3.

87 Mir; 19140920. Ibid. (emphasis mine).

88 Mir; 19140923. Ibid.

89 L'Echo de Bulgarie; 1914 10 22. Ibid.
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the evening, the Buxtons attempted a visit, which they thought had been arranged

beforehand., to the Holy Synod., only to find that the Exarch was absent.90

About this time, extracts from a recent series of attacks on Noel Buxton's policies

and character originally carried in the Constantinople press began to appear in Bulgarian

newspapers. For instance, Dnevnik reported the judgement of lkdam that: "Buxton's

mission to Bulgaria \vill fait due to the state of cold reason., 50 neccssary to the current

Balkan situation., that predominates there."9l In the same vein., V/ro published a Tanin

article which asserted that

So long as the efforts for the restoration of the Balkan alliance will be
developed under the influence of foreign states, which want to use the Balkans
tor their own purposes. these efforts will prove fruitless.92

With the exception ofcertain articles., culled from the more extreme Turkish organs,

which openly incited their readers against the BlL'Ctons., such extracts were generally

reprinted in Sofia with little or no editorial comment.

On the 21 st., Dnevnik also reported that Noel Buxton., with the explicit permission

of Sir Edward Grey., had offered to the Bulgarian government compensation which

violated Turkish territorial integrity.93 While Buxton may weil have been inclined to do

50, Grey certainly would never have approved. At a Cabinet meeting which took place

two days [ater., Grey found himself under pressure from Churchillot Charles Masterman

90 Dnevnik; 19140921. Ibid.

9l This was presumably a reference to Ferdinand's policies. Utro; 191409 23. Ibid.

92 Dnevnik; 19140923. Ibid.

93 Dnevnik; 1914 09 21. Ibid. The newspaper's source was apparently an article in the Constantinople
journal Sabah.
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and others to accept that war with Turkey was inevitable., and that therefore he should

work towards an unqualified understanding with Bulgaria.94 Although Masterman argued

that the Bulgarians, if they believed they were surrounded, would be tempted to throw in

their lot with Germany and Turkey, the Foreign Secretary fmally senled only on a further

warning to Turkey.95

Meanwhile. tales of misfortune related by Bulgarian refugees from Greek and

Serbian Macedonia had received lurid treatment in the Sotia press. and Noel Buxton was

anxious to obtain firsthand impressions of the situation. However. a proposed expedition

to Strumnïca had to be postponed when he collapsed in exhaustion on September 22.96

Although he was fully recovered by the aftemoon of the 23rd., Buxton's temporary

indisposition had give mm the opportunity to write to his wife about his mission:

.. .it was a much dearer piece of utility than l had thought likely. [ saw that the
pro..Entente parties here might make use of us but did not think they would be
50 delighted as they are. They think it changes the general atmosphere by
reminding people to think about England. The pro..Gennans are influenced tao,
because they are just those who applauded me in years past.. being the [pro]
Macedonian party ... We have broken the back ofour task but cannot leave.
Things are very unsettled.97

Buxton aIso drafted his second wire to Grey at trus time. However.. the tone and

content of the wire belied the cautious optimism he had expressed in private to his ""ife.

94 Rabbins. 1971. 568.

95 Ibid.

96 Noel Buxton to Lucy Buxton; 19140923; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 25 File 3.

97 Ibid.
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If Buxton believed that he had "broken the backll of his own task, he was less impressed

with the performance of the Foreign Office:

It is deeply regretted98 that proposais for territorial compensation have been
agreed on by Russia and aIso France, but vetoed by England. This strengthens
hands of [the] Germanophil party here. [ have avoided suggesting that British
Government wauld favour territorial compensation and have repudiated
authority to express opinion on British intentions. But [ tind universal opinion
that if British adhesion ta definite territorial proposais is not given, it is very
possible that Gennanophil party \vill make successful agitation for attack on
Rumania in the event ofRumanian invasion of Hungary. Resentment at
treatment of Bulgarians in Macedonia is increasing and invasion of Macedonia
is equally possible.99

Although Buxton's daim to have avoided any suggestion of territorial

compensation was obviously misleading, his point about Macedonia was a valid one. On

the moming ofSeptember 24, the Buxtons left for Strumnica, accompanied by 1. D.

Bourchier, pennanent Balkan correspondent of the Times, and Colonel Miles, the

American Military Attaché in Bulgaria. The company stopped briefly en route in a small

Macedonian town, where the entire population was said to have tumed out to welcome

Noel Buxton, who expressed how pleased he was to have arrived in "the newly liberated

Bulgarian lands."IOO He aJso made discreet inquiries amongst those present as to the true

state and number of the local refugees. Buxton pursued rus investigation in Stnunnica.,

asking newly arrived Bulgarian refugees if any of the ostensibly Greek or Serbian bands

98 Presumably, by Buxton himself and his supporters in Sofia.

99 Nael Buxtan ta Sir. Edward Grey; 19140925; copy. N. B. P.: Box 56; File 3. In early Navember,
Bax-Ironside too wouJd aJert Grey to the danger of rising popular feeling forcing Government to
intervene in Macedoni~ and thus committing BuIgaria ta siding against us." Sir Henry Bax-lronside ta
Sir Edward Grey; 1914 Il 08. Stevenson, 156.

100 Mir; 19140928. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3.
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which terrorized them in "occupied" Macedonia were perhaps not of Bulgarian origin. IOI

To this question the refugees naturally ail replied in the negative. Buxton expressed his

conviction that in the near future Macedonia would once again become part ofBulgari~

although that would "depend mainly on Bulgaria."I02

In ms next breath, however, Noel Buxton threw discretion ta the wind and fmally

called openly for Bulgaria's immediate eotry ioto the war. The gist ofhis offending

speech was wired trom Strumnica lO3 ta Sofi~ and on September 28, the Liberal party's

lVarodni Prava reported that

Buxton has said that Sir Edward Grey was not satisfied with the hitherto
attitude of the Bulgarian government. and that Bulgaria ought to hasten the
winning of the fric:ndship of England. because she will dictate the peace and
was going to give each one according to his conduet in the present war. The
wish of England is that we should not keep neutral but should intervene on
behalf of the Triple Entente. 104

Similarly. the independent Dnevnik quoted Buxton as tàllows:

in order the mistakes of the Balkan War should be corrected. Bulgaria ought
indispensably abandon her neutrality and participate in the generai European
War in behaifof the Triple Entente .... This is the wish of Sir Edward Grey.IOS

Both publications were disapproving, and the fact that their respective accounts coneur

with each other suggests that nothing was [ost in the translation.

101 The aetivities in Macedonia of the kamitadji (L M. R. O.), a Bulgarian paramilitary terrorist
organization which was receiving secret support from Austria-Hungary greatly exacerbated the already
poor relations between Serbia and Bulgaria. Zeman, 75.

102 Utro; 19140927. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3.

103 There is no record as to how Buxton's comments were received in Strumnica.

104 Narodni Prava; 19140928. Ibid.

lOS Dnevnik; 19 140928. Ibid.
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Meanwhile~ the Buxtons had left Strumnica on the morning ofSeptember 26th,

andjourneyed ta Petrich.. where they attended another dinner heLd in their honor. Present

at the gathering were members of the Bulgarian Commission for the Resettlement of

Refugees, with whom NoeL Buxton conferred at Length.106 Upon their retum to Sofia at

about six o'clock in the aftemoon of the 27th~I07 the Buxtons \\lere informed that certain

concems regarding their personal satèty had arisen during their absence. Accordingly.. the

Bulgarian secret service~ in conjunction with the chiefof police in Sotia~ had

"volunteered" their services to ensure the Buxtons' welfare for the duration of their visit

to Sofia. To this end.. they asked the Buxtons pointedly about their pLans for departure,

and had enlisted the director of the Hotel Bulgaria as an informant on the Buxtons'

movements. According to Kambana.. this was "misunderstood" by the Bu.xtons~ who

"expressed misgivings that the police wished to send them out orthe country," quite to

the seeming perplexity of the journal's editor. IOS

On September 29~ the Buxtons announced that they would proceed with their

long-postponed trip ta Bucharest on the night of October 1. 109 In his autobiography, Noel

Buxton alluded only indirectly to the controversy surroUflding his departure:

When it seemed that there was no more to be done tor a time at Sofia, we
thought it best to make an end ofour public position by going away to
Bucharest. 110

106 Noe! Buxton later preseoted the Commission with the SUffi of 1000 francs. Volga; 1914 10 02. Ibid.

107 Vtra; 19140927. Ibid.

lOS Kambana; 1914 10 16. Ibid.

109 Dnevnilc; 19140929. Ibid.

110 Noel Buxton's autobiography; o. d.; copy. N. B. P.: Box 12; File 1.
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Nonetheless, while their intention ta leave for Romania at sorne undetennined point in

the near future had been public knowledge ever since their arrivaI in Sofia. their abrupt

departure was certainly precipitated by Noel Buxton's blunder. Aithough Buxton had

already round himselfobliged to issue sorne sort of belated denial or retraction of his

Strumnica statements, a remark by the editor ofNarodni Prava suggests that the apology

was neither sincere nor convincing:

We are bound ta observe that the letter of the respectable Englishman despite
its categorical contradiction ofcertain expressions he uttered at Strumnica cloes
not actually deny the specitic tacts set tàrth in the press. 1Il

Obviously reluctant to admit defeat, Buxton expressed sorne ofhis misgivings in a brief

note ta rus witè on the moming ofOctober Ist: ·"we might now go to Bucharest ... [but) it

is impossible to leave. Events dtag slowly. Grey might blame us for leaving, \ove may be

wanted later."Il:!

On that same day the press in Sofia broke the news 113 trom London that the

British Foreign Secretary had already cleared up any possible rnisconceptions

surrounding the status of Buxton's mission. Despite appearances. however. the timing of

Grey's demarche was aImost certainly a coincidence. The London correspondent of the

Athens newspaper Estia, Christos Kessary, had previously requested that Grey dispel

certain rumors, widespread in the Greek press, regarding the nature of Buxton's activities

III Narodni Prava; 19140930. N. B. P.: Box 59: File 3. The actual text of the retraction does not appear
within the Buxton Papers.

((2 Noel Buxton to Lucy Buxton; 1914 10 10; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 16. (emphasis mine).

l13 Buxton might nonnally have been infonned in advance through the British Legation. bu~ given the
state ofcommunications in Macedoni~ it is unlikely. though not impossible, that the Buxtons learned
of the new development prior to theirreturn to Sofia on the 27th.. ifthen.
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in Bulgaria. Ironically enough, on September 25, the very day on which Buxton would

commit his/aux pas in Strumnica, the London Times had carried Grey's response. It read,

in part:

Buxton ... was not sent ta the Balkans on any otlicial mission tram the British
Foreign Office.... [bis] visit ta Bulgaria was a private visit ,and that there is no
foundation whatever for stating that he made offers ta the Bulgarian
Government at the expense ofGreece and Serbia. You are authorized ta
contradict, on the official authority of the Foreign Office ... [such]
statements. 114

Prior ta the publicauon of the above, very tèw specifies about the mission were in

fact known outside the British Cabinet. TIlere was no easy way to chart tram London the

progress of the Buxtons in Bulgaria, especially since the usuallines ofcommunication

had been broken by the war. Moreover. Noel Buxton had on occasion authorized his wife

ta disseminate misleading information. For example:

You tinally need to know what you cao say about my doings to my
constituents, and yet l cao't tell you or know what is being said [in London].
The best [ cao do is ta let you mention the Hussar as showing that [ was
officially sent [to Bulgaria].115

114 London Times; ca. 19140925. N. B. P.: Box 64; File l. It was widely asserted in the London press
that the Greek newspaper reports alluded to by Kessary were manufactured in Berlin sa as to foment
uneasiness in Greece and Serbia. While the idea that they onginated through the machinations ofthe
Dual Alliance was not implausible, the allegations contained in those supposedly contrived reports
were also not without basis. Buxton himselfhad provided ample evidence tor such speculation on the
part of Athens. Interestingly, three weeks later, the Speclator would still state that "The exact business
that led to the visit of the brothers Buxton to Bucharest is, ofcourse, not available, but it can safely be
taken that their mission was an important one and in the direct interests of their country. Probably they
were endeavoring to counteraet German machinations in the Balkans and acted as a personal reminder
of the way in which England has always proteeted the interestS of Roumania and Bulgaria ... it was
distinctly in the national interest that Bulgaria should be encouraged in her attitude ofneutrality rather
than be coaxed on to the side ofTurkey." The Spectator; 1914 11 13. N. B. P.: Box 25; File 6.

L1S Noel Buxton to Lucy Buxton; 19140923; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 25; File 3.
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Sorne time later he would aIso ask his wife to "pass the news round that we are doing

something for Grey.1
1 116

Under the circumstances Grey had been virtually obliged to act as he did with

regards to Kessary's challenge. It is aIso not implausible that the Foreign Secretary had

learned of Buxton's performance at the English Speaking League. and had hoped to

forestall the possibility of any further Buxton indiscreùons. An understandably piqued

Buxton subsequently went sa far as to characterize Grey's move as one done "in such

terms as to throw Bulgaria into the arms ofGermany"117 However, although Conwell-

Evans asserts that the effect in "official fl Sofia as weil was "greatly to diminish the vaIue

of the mission.," 118 it is probable that Buxton's actual status was aJready known to

Ferdinand and Radoslavov.

[n any case, the news ofGrey's disclosure further discredited the aJready

embattled Buxton. as weIl as his Bulgarian supporters. Nevertheless, the brothers

postponed their scheduled departure until the evening of the 2nd. and promised Gesov

that they would return to Sofia within a week or 50. 119 The brothers also addressed an

open letter to the citizens of Sofia., the contents of which were detailed in Kambana:

[The Buxtons are1cordially thanking the societies., committees and the
individuals who have sent them their kind messages ofwelcome. They aIso
thank for the many letters, telegrams and resolutions sent to them and express
their joy for the expressed love of the Bulgarians towards England. They are

116 Noel Buxton to Lucy Buxton; 1914 10 05; h01ograph. Ibid.

117 Noel Buxtonls notes; annotated copy; n. d•. N. B. P.: Box 64; File 1.

118 Conwell-Evans,93.

119 Dnevnik; 1914 10 02. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3.
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aIso expressing their thanks to the press for the generous way it welcomed
them and expressed its regard for England.

To his copy of the above" Noel Buxton added.. with ooly the slightest hint of irony,

"Forgive my extravagance! AIl to help the Foreign Office~"120

Ofcourse" Buxton was more inclined to "help" the Foreign Office reaIign its

policies in accordance with those that he himselfadvocated. With this in mind.. at Il

o'clock on the evening ofOctober 2" Noel and Charles Buxton took their leave orthe

Bulgarians" and headed dutifully by rail in the direction of Bueharest. En route.. Noel

Buxton was hardly contrite.. writing to his wife as tàllows:

1tèar that the only news that has got ta you in the press has been about Greek
and Turkish alarms. But we did Y.m weil ta come ... Ifonly Winston would
pursue any poliey here at all. They give us llQ help.121

It would appear as though Bu.xton was not anly satisfied \vith his own performance to that

point" but held the entire British Cabinet collectively responsible for the reverses of the

preceding week. Although it possible that he simply wished ta imprt:ss bis new wife"

Buxton" as we shaH see. would subsequently react in similar fashion to further setbaeks

during the course of his mission.

120 Kambana; 1914 10 02. Ibid.

121 Noel Buxton to Lucy Buxton; 1914 1002; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 16. (emphasis Buxton's).
Churchill might already have turned his attention to the possibility of forcing the Dardanelles.
moreover,. the situation on the western front had again become eritical. thereby preoccupying both the
British Cabinet and the Foreign Office.
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CHAPTERUI

The Buxtons reached Bucharest late on October 3~ or very early in the morning of

the 4th. Theil' coming did not occasion quite the same level of excitement as had their

unexpected arrival in Sofia at the beginning of September, but the presence in the

Romanian capital of the President of the Balkan Committee was nonetheless worthy of

note. The welcome of the British Legation was warmer than that ofSotia had been~ for

the British Minister~ George Barclay~ was Noel Buxton's cousin.

Shortly after his arrivaI. Buxton was handed a letter trom the British Military

Attaché in Sofia~ Lieutenant-Colonel W. O. Napier, who had written to assure Buxton of

ms continued support for the latter's efforts. Napier did~ however. suggest that in

Bucharest Buxton abandon any pretence ofpotentially reconciling the Serbs, Greeks,

Romanians, and Bulgarians. lnstead. he should persuade the Romanians and Bulgarians

that it was in their mutual interests to form an alliance without retèrence ta the other

Balkan states. Should Romania exchange Dobruja tor Bulgaria's friendship~ it could then

enter the war on the side of the Entente without tèar ofa Bulgarian attack trom the south't

and tend to its own claims in Bessarabia and Bukovina. IfSerbia could be forced to give

up Macedonia in exchange tor Bosnia-Hercegovina and a port on the Adriatic~ Bulgaria

tao would be satisfied. 1

Noel Buxton had already outlined a similar position prior to ms arriva! in

Bucharest:

1 W. O. Napierto Noel Buxton; 1914 1003; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 25; File 3.
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Rumania can secure Transylvania if she (1) makes terms with Bulgaria and (2)
anacks Austria. They dare not do (2) without (1) and unless she does (2) the
Entente will have other plans for Transylvani~ so that Rumania would get
nothing.2

Shortly thereafter, he elaborated the point:

Both this country [Romania] and Bulgaria count on English support to their
claims and national frontiers. l fear they will get DQ support unless they have
backed the Entente by fighting ... It is heartbreaking ta listen ta endless
recriminativns ofother states, when great practical ends are in question. We
gather that Grey despairs of getting help, except from Servia. This is
exasperating, when 850 000 soldiers could probably be added ta the Entente's

• 3armles..

Buxton hoped of course to impress thase views upon the imponant politicians in

Bucharest.. as weil as King Carol 1.. the former German prince Charles of Hohenzollem-

Sigmaringen, ta whom Buxton correctly attributed greater influence on domestic political

affairs than any other Balkan ruler.-l This time around.. he refused ail newspaper

interviews,5 for ms comparatively muted influence in Romania precluded an attempt on

his part to influence public opinion as he had in Sofia. The Buxtons anticipated therefore

that a short stay would suffice to persuade the Romanian govemment ta come to sorne

agreement with Bulgaria betore it was tao late.

The Buxtons held enlightening conferences with, among others, Ionel Bratianu,

Minister for War as weil as Prime Minister, and also the leading Opposition party leader

2 Noel Buxton to Lucy Buxton; 1914 1004; holograph. Ibid.

3 Noel Buxton to Lucy Buxton; 1914 1007; holograph. Ibid. (Bu.xton's emphasis).

4 Conwell-Evans,95. Carol's opportunistic manipulation ofpoliticaI parties supposedly perpetrated sorne
of the worst features of Romanian public life. "Carol Lit EncyclQpaedja Britannica; Mjcropaedja. (vol
Il. 1984 ed.) 579

5 Noel Buxton to Lucy Buxton; 1914 1007; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 25; File 3.
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Take Ionescu, whom Buxton typically considered to be the most important figure in

Romanian politics at the time.6 Both politieians apparently prafessed themselves in

agreement with Noel Buxton. although Bratianu was known ta favor the Dual Alliance.

Ioneseu, conversely, joined the majority ofhis parliamentary colleagues within the

Government and Opposition alike in his resistance to any form ofcooperation with the

Central Powers.7 Although this did not in turn imply their wholesaIe support for the

Entente, it had prevented King Carol from honoring a defensive alliance \vhich he had

concluded in 1883 with bis Austrian counterpart. Although the treaty had been renewed

as recentIy as February 5. 1913. its existence had been kept secret. Romanian nationalists..

seething over the program ofMagyarization to which the ethnie Romanians of

Transylvania had been subject since the 1867 re-absorption ofTransylvania into

Hungary, would never have tolerated any tooo of collaboration with the Dual Monarchy.

Instead. on August 3, the Romanian govemment had opted for neutrality during a

dramatic Crown Council meeting which had come ta a close when the King left the

chamber in disgust.

On the basis ofa technicality, the Romanians had also repudiated a clause in the

Treaty of Bucharest which had bound them to assist Serbia or Greece in case of an attack

by Bulgaria.8 However, while no tonnai public statement to that effect was made, the

overall cooling of relations between Romania and the Central Pawers was evident.

6 Ibid.

7 Luigi Albenini, The Qéiins Qrthe War Qf 1914. (trans/ed. Isabella Massey. vol. lI. Oxford University
Press, 1952) 565.; Sir. George Barclay tQ Sir Edward Grey; 19140823. Stevenson, 43.

8 Albertini~ 572-581 .
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Sazonov, encouraged~ had proposed to secure for Romania all those Austro-Hungarian

territories in which there was a Romanian majority, in return for active military

cooperation against Austria.9 Although Bratianu had declined the offer on August 15, the

attitude ofRomania had been such as to induce a succession ofrelated offers on the part

of the Entente. Finally, negotiations with Romania undertaken by Sazonov without the

knowledge ofhis British or French counterparts had culminated in the Russo-Romanian

agreement of August 19~ although the terros of the pact had been announced ooly on

October 2. Briefly, Romania was pledged to observe benevolent neutrality towards

Russi~ in return for the right to annex and occupY those parts of Hungary inhabited by

Romanians. lO

On October 7~ the Buxtons left in the company of Ionescu for the mountain resort

of Sinaia., where the King's summer palace was located. Noel Buxton, "intending to

combine the friendly with the abject.,If II took advantage ofa long-standing invitation from

Queen Elizabeth.. and on October ID the Buxtons were granted an audience with her and

King Carol. In conversation with Elizabeth, the Buxtons restricted themselves to persona!

gossip, but with Carol's arrivai Noel Buxton returned to business. He recalled.. however,

that neither the King nor the Queen were inclined to consider seriously his proposais:

9 "The Balkans, 1914-15 from the Outbreak of the Warto the Offerto BuIgaria.1t Stevenson, 384.

10 Sir George Barclay to Sir Edward Grey. Ibid., !02.

Il Noel Buxton's autobiography excerpted in Conwell-Evans,95. Buxton had visited the Queen
(formerly Elizabeth of Wied, lanerly famous as the poetess Cannen Sylva) in Gennany ten years prior
to their meeting in 1914. He commented: "1 was channed with her views, and am convinced that ifshe
were not a queen, but say a retired widow in London, 1shouId cultivate her for her combination of
c1evemess, intellectuality, simplicity, sweetness, benevoIence, and beauty ofvoice and appearance. l

'

Ibid.
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1 frred offmy gospel about England fighting for small nations (and therefore
being worth while for Rumania ta figbt for). Whereupon the Queen~ whose
feelings are violently pro-Gennan~ interrupted before he could answer,
ridiculing the idea. She complained that the Balkan committee had neglected
Roumania.... Apropos of the entente with Bulgaria, he [King Carol] was very
keen for it but could not cede any territory. On the War, he said it was very
evenly balanced and it was quite uncertain which side would win. Roumania
should be neutral. l2

On the next morning, it was announced that King Carol had died mysteriously

during the night, which gave rise ta groundless accusations in Gennany that Noel Buxton

had poisoned him. 13 The brothers retumed to Bucharest ta attend the King's funeral

obsequies, which \vere held on the morning of the 15th. Amidst the crowd which had

gathered for the occasion was a young joumalist l'rom Constantinople by the name of

Hassan Taxim, who had been shadowing the Buxtons tor the two preceding weeks.

Moments after the brothers ventured out of their downtown hotel and into an open

automobile~Taxim took advantage orthe funereal commotion to appraach and fire

severa! shots at the brothers. The shock of the moment is best captured in Noel Buxton's

persona! notes, scribbled down saon after the event:

Bang Bang on our right, two or three rimes before we knew what it meant., as
there was a dense buzzing crowd all about, and it only sounded like squibs
going off. Theo 1saw a man firing close by, and reaIized it was aimed at us.
We instinctively flinched and put up an arm ta shield ourselves. 1remember
feeling that if we turned ta get out of the car the other side, the man would get
nearer and shoot us in the back more easily. It seemed as if the tiring would
never stop but real1y he lost no ùme in getting through his five or six
cartridges. They were over before we moved., and 1 looked around and saw him
standing behind the car by himself, as ifdoubting what to do next and not
trying ta get away. In a moment he was attacked and on the ground being
pummeled. We had each been hit and felt that we migbt be dying! Charles

l2 Ibid.

l3 Noel Buxton's autobiography; n. d.; copy. N. B. P.: Box 12; File 1.
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looked very yellow lying on his back. l coo't help looking anxiously to see if
rus breathing is normal.... We tumbled out, my chin pouring blood ail over my
clothes and everything near me. lot

Although Noel Buxton escaped with only his jaw broken.. from a ricochet.. he later

realized that bis pocketbook had providentially detlected a bullet aimed straight at his

heart. 15 Charles Roden Buxton had been shot through a lung.. but he remained conscious

and was able to stagger back to the hotel. Noel Buxton endeavored to clear their suite..

which had been invaded by ajostling crowd of Romanian officiaIs and policemen,

journalists.. hotel staff.. and other curious intruders.. as well as a succession of doctors

competing for the privilege oftreating the Buxtons. Then their assailant was brought iota

the room, handcuffed.. the police insisting that Noel BlL"<ton tànnally identify and

interrogate him. 16 Barclay and Bourchier.. who spoke sorne Romanian.. eventually anived

and restored order.. arranging the Buxtons' transtèr to a nearby hospital under the care of

the most celebrated surgeon in Romania. 17 Charles Rodeo Buxton was determined to he

14 Noel Buxton's notes: ca. 1914 10 16: holograph. N. B. P.: Box 25: File 3. More coherent and complete
accounts of the outrage itself can be found in Buxton's autobiography; n. d.: copy; p. 156. N. B. P.:
Box: 12; File 4. or in conternporary Bulgarian and Romanian newspapers: translated cuttings: 1914 10
16-18. N. B. P. Box: 59; File 3. A detailed account of the aftennath of the atTair can be found in Noel
Buxton. Trayers and Retlectjons (London: George Allen & Unwin, 1929) 123~ 129.

15 Noel Buxton to Lucy Bu.xton: 1914 1029; holograph. N. B. P. Box 16. Buxton supposed that the story
of his near escape "might interest constituents."

16 Ailer their recovery, the Buxtons met Taxirn in prison, and were favorably impressed by his manner
and personality. An eamest patriot.. he had studied in France, and explained his aim as "ta punish; to
show that Turks are not sheep; to teach a lesson; to show that the Turks do not pardon their enemies."
The Buxtons also tried to arrange for his good treannent in prison. and provided him with extra
blankets. books, and other amenities. As Noel Buxton explained. "Human contact brings natural
instincts into play ... we were no longer abstractions to each other .. the assassin on one side. the anti..
Turk on the other." Set free when the Germans took Bucharest in late 1916, Taxim became a hero in the
Turkish quarter ofSmyrna ([zmir) for his exploit in Bucharest. became notorious as a persecutor of
Greeks, and consequently was executed when the Greek anny took the city in May 1919. Buxton.
125-[29.

17 Take Ionescu's brother, actually. Ibid., 124.
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out ofany immediate danger within twenty-four hours~ although~ as Noel Buxton

remarked" both brothers feh the need for"a welcome rest." 18

The political faIlout from the assassination attempt was intense. It \vas sorne time

before detailed reports appeared in the British press~ but the frrst news of the attack

triggered a wave of sympathy and praise for the BlLxtons, who were said to have bled for

their country. Although the precise circumstances which underlay Taxim's action were

never authoritatively established.. most commentators expressed righteous indignation

over what they presumed to have been German involvement in the outrage. Taxim's

passport had been visaed in Constantinople just after Grey's disavowal of the Buxton

mission was published.. leading to speculation that "the German ploners" enraged at being

toiled in their press campaign [against the mission], are now aiming at the removaI of the

Buxtons altogether." 19

The German view was torcefully put in the Berlin Tageblatt.. according to a

reprint in the Times and other newspapers:

Out of Christianity and hatred of the Turks Buxton did a splendid business for
his Fatherland.. but when he snapped ms mighty jaws one could hear the bones
of poor Turkey crushed between them. A wild young Turk has shot Herr
Buxton in the jaw. Ofcourse this is a deed which every civilized man must
disapprove, but 1cannot help myself. 1rejoice that it is precisely in the mouth
that this Mr. Buxton was wounded. For it was a mouth full of guile and
arrogance towards everything that was not English, and so this shot seems to
me symbolical. Your own island country has been shot through your esteemed
jaw, Mr. Buxton. 1know that it is brutal, but with all my heart l hope it may do
you and old England good.20

18 Noel Buxton to Lucy Buxtan; 1914 10 17; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 16.

19 DailyChronicle; 1914 10 17. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3.

20 quoted in London Times; 1914 1022; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 2.
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Similarly, the Turkish newspaper Tasfiri-Efkiar suggested that the outrage

"should surprise nobody, inasmuch as by their hostile and malevolent attitude the

brathers Buxtan have drawn on themselves the hatred of the whole of Islam."21 Another,

Jeune Turc. published an article indignantly repudiating the insinuation made by severa!

Romanian newspapers that the attack was the outcome ofa plot tor which Turkish

political circles were directly responsible.22 La Roumanie. for instance. had characterized

the affair as an "incredible piece of insolence" though which "one ofthose creatures

raised out of the gutter in Constantinople through the Young Turkish Revolution" had

dishonored Romania. It was further emphasized that:

we must draw the attention of the Ottoman Govemment to the danger of
allowing machinations to be carried on at Constantinople.. which are instigated
by the enemies of Balkan peace.... The Bulgarians will tèel it very deeply that
there should exist revolutionary organizations at Constantinople which seek ta
impose an alliance upon them thraugh the assassination oftheir greatest
benefactors .. .23

Although rus allegation would remain unsubstantiated.. [onescu himself accused Enver

Bey directly of full complicity in the attack.24

21 quoted in Daily Express: 1914 10 19. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3.

22 quoted in Reuters wire service report; 1914 10 22. Ibid.

23 quoted in The Spectator, 1914 Il 13. N. B. P.: Box 25; File 6.

24 Noel Buxton himself informed his wife that the attempt was Itthought to have been planned by Enver
whom we regard as a great friend!1t Noel Buxton to Lucy Buxton; holograph; 1914 10 17. N. B. P.:
Box 16. Back when the Buxtons had worked to increase the standing of the Young Turk regime within
Britain, both Talaat and Enver Bey had accepted the hospitaIity of the Buxton brothers, who enjoyed
theircompany. See Enver Bey ta Noel Buxton; 1908 1004 and 19110729; holographs. N. B. P.: Box
25; File 6, and aIso ItLa grande nation unie et le partie parlementaire union et progress" to Noel
Buxton; 190902 13; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 56a; File 1.
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In Sofi~ the Buxtons were initially reported to have died.25 The newspapers

printed intimate and sensational accounts of the aflàir., redolent with emotion but lacking

for evidence. There were expressions of sympathy and adulation for the Buxtons and

Britain, and., indeed, contrition for past "misunderstandings." Representative of the whole

was Utro, which waxed poetic over the affair:

We bow down before you., sons ofGreat England. who resolved ta expose
your lives to danger ta come here and bring us a ward of consolation amidst
these days ofgrave trials for the Bulgarian nation...

Reverential bows to you., sincere defenders of liberty, who left your country
in these stormy times in order to use yoUf efforts for the removal ofa slavery
much more inhuman much more hateful then that which your grandfathers
fought against.

Reverential bows to you, happy brothers, who perhaps are now lifeless
bodies, because your memory will be perpetrated within a suffering nation. For
Bulgaria it is indifferent whether you are visiting her with an official or
unofficial mission. For her it is enough that you exposed your li\'~s for the
B 1 · '6U ganan cause...-

Even Narodni Prava stated that a "feeling of indignation and abhorrence tilled the soul of

the Bulgarian public ... their feelings tound echo in ail the politicians."17 Finally., the

Bulgarian Minister in Bucharest., Simon Radev. of the Liberal party. conveyed the

fol1owing to the Buxtons:

Joining the feelings of regret and indignation which yesterday upset the whole
Bulgarian nation, we shaH be very happy to see MM. brothers Bu.xton in good
health and joyous among us" as they have promised to return tram Bucharest to
Sofia.l8

25 Dnevnilc, 1914 10 15. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3.

26 Utro; 1914 10 16. Ibid.

27 Narodni Prava; 1914 10 16. Ibid.

28 Ibid.
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Although it still remained to be seen whether Noel Buxton could exploit public

sympathy over the outrage for tangible political advantage, he was not unhappy with the

turn of events, as a succession of postcards written to his wife on the 17th of October

reveals:

l am sure the Turkish government will try to stop further attempts on us when
they see the effect ... [ am glad the cause was our work for England; there is a
joy in shedding blood for the country...

Barclay has just been to convey a kind message wired by Grey. Dozens of
telegrams are arriving from Bulgaria. l think the Turks must be sarry they
attempted the "remedy of force." ... the man ... was an awful bungler not to
have hit us in the right place. l have always regretted the inefficiency of the
Turks but this time nothing else saved us...

l have always thought Turkish attempts in the cards and we lately discussed
whether if we went to Constantinople and were killed it would help our cause. l
thought not because no one would have blamed the Turks over~much - we
would have been regarded as tempting providence. By sending a man here the
Turks have done more to injure themselves and also to drive Bulgaria to our
side than in anything we could have conceived. There has always been a
chance ofattack by a Turkish fanatic before but one could not hope tor such an
ideal one as this ...

My jaw, though cracked, will not be silenced!29

Buxton later wrote to Churchill, reiterating sorne ofhis prior convictions:

In regard to military scheme in Balkans which you asked me to work for,30 the
situation is favorable. Roumanian action hitherto impeded by the King's wishes
being now possible the ooly remaining difficulty is fear of Bulgaria. The
Powers can obviate this without dangerous commitments and with justice to
Servia.... Small powers cannot he expected to senle ail questions among
themselves. Public opinion would he mast powerfully effected by a lead from
outside especially from England. 1beg to suggest that utterance by yourself ...
would greatly help to secure co-operation. [t would he reported verbatim here.
AlI steps in support of YOUf policy are believed to he deprecated by our

29 Excerpted from four separate postcards from Noel Buxton to Lucy Bu."<ton; 1914 10 17; holograph. N.
B. P.: Box 16~ Box 16~ Box 25; File 3; Box 16.

30 And which Grey seemed to have discouraged. supra, 29~
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Govemmen~ even when advocated by France or Russia. If it is abandoned~

1 =_c, 31P ease uuorm me...

Buxton apparently did not understand, or care~ that Churchill, as a responsible member of

the government, could not sound off at will, regardless of the circumstances. However, he

subsequently wrote his wife as tbllows: "it is quite impossible to tell how long we must

stay. Churchill has wired in response my scheme to our great satisfaction so we must not

hurry."32

Persistent reports from Constantinople that Turkey was poised to enter the war on

the side of the Central Powers had in tàct greatly reinforced the arguments advanced by

Noel Buxton's allies in London.33 On October 2, Churchill and Lloyd George tinally had

convinced the dissenting members of the Cabinet to abandon the policy of maintaining

the territorial integrity of the Ottoman Empire. and to adopt a more active diplomacy in

the Balkans. Accordingly. Grey on that same day had instructed Bax-Ironside ta hand

Radoslavov a note in which the Foreign Secretary, while avoiding any specifie

commitments. stated that he would "not be unsympathetic to Bulgarian claims if large

additions oftemtory were acquired by other states as a result orthe war." 34 Bulgaria was

also promised financial assistance. provided it demonstrated a friendly attitude towards

31 Noel Buxton to Winston Churchill; 1914 10 22; copy. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3. Buxton added that "G.
Barclay wished 'are believed' inserted."

32 Noel Buxton to Lucy Buxton; 1914 1031; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 16. The text ofChurchill's wire
does not appear.

33 IIcev, 35.

34 Sir Edward Grey to Sir Henry Bax-lronside; 1914 1002. Stevenson, [07.
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"the allies with whom we are acting." lnterestingly, this note apparently was handed to

Radoslavov only on the 16th ofOctober,35 the day after the outrage in Bucharest.

On October 22, Noel Buxton submitted bis third wire to Grey, which summarized

his conclusions:

We find opinion in responsible circles that in arder to secure military action
by Roumania and in event ofwar with Turkey by Bulgaria it is not desirable to
negotiate with small States but that Entente powers should make declaration
such as follows, namely:-

First.. they support daim 0 f Servia to Bosma.
Second, in event of Bulgaria farthwith showing friendly neutrality towards

Roumania and Servia and undertaking to attack Turkey in case ofwar between
Turkey and Entente.. they will support daim afBulgaria to the parts of
Macedonia indicated by Serbo-Bulgarian Treaty 1912.. and in case of war with
Turkey, they will support claim of Bulgaria to Enos Midia line.

Third.. [n event of Bulgaria receiving these parts of Macedonia they will
support the further daim ofServia to Dalmatian ports.

It is thought important that declaration should be formaI and made by the
three Powers jointly. Promise to support territorial claims is understood not to
be absolute guarantee.... Above dedaration would remove menace of
Bulgarian attack which hampers Roumania.J6

To his own copy ofthe above. Noel Buxton added the words "solution! invented in

hospital directly after the outrage.." although his suggestions were hardly novel. Buxton

later claimed that ms proposai was endorsed within a week by a joint telegram from the

British~ French.. and Russian ministers in Sotia.J7 However.. Grey demurred.. confident

35 Ilcev. 36. Althaugh the delay cauld have resulted from. for example. the need ta align policies with the
other Allied gavemments. the timing of the nate is interesting nonetheless.

36 Noel Buxton to Edward Grey; 1914 1021; copy. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3. Suxton asked that copies be
sent to Churchill and Lloyd George as weil.

37 Noel Buxton's notes; ca. 1914 Il 17; copy. Ibid.; ConweII·Evans.94. However. there is no record of
such a telegram in Stevenson.
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that Serbian Premier Nikola Pasic would eventually abandon rus "Great Serbia"

orientation in favor of the Yugoslav ideal, and voluntarily cede Macedonia ta Bulgaria.J8

Sir Arthur Nicolson, permanent under-secretary of the Foreign Office,

subsequently minuted "I wish it were possible for Messrs. Buxton to come home. 1am a

little afraid this roving 'mission' may cause difficulties [with Greece and Serbia].'139

Similarly. Bax-Ironside continued ta frown upon the BLLxtons' activities. as O'Mahoney

wrote ta Harcourt:-IO

the minister of a Foreign Power here [Sofia] ... stated that Sir Henry Bax
Ironside was endeavoring ta bring about the tàilure orthe Buxtan Mission.
That he had approached mm and the Minister ofanother power.-II making
disparaging statements about the Buxtons, saying were disavowed by the
Foreign Office, that they had no authorization whatever official or semi­
official, that they were posing under tàlse pretenses. that they were not weIl
connected ... that the whole of their proceedings here was a piece of self
advertisement. This statement was made with the avowed abject of frustrating
their mission at Bucharest and bath these ministers were asked ta warn their
representatives at Bucharest.

38 For more on Grey's apparent misconception see Michael Boro Petrovich. A HistoQ' of Modem Serbja
1804-1918 (Vol. 2. New York: Harcourt Brace Jovanovich. 1976) 632.

39 Christos Theodoulou. Greece and tbe Entente; Ay&ust 1 1914 - September 25. 1916 (Thessaloniki:
Institute tor Balkan Studies. 1971) 52 n.16.

40 O'Mahoney to Harcourt; 1914 II 10; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3. Q'Mahoney. an Englishman,
ran an orphanage in Sofia which the Buxtons had visited in mid-September. Buxton eventually ended
up in possession ofthis [etter addressed only to "Harcourt." Lewis Harcourt. Secretary ofState for the
Colonies from 1910 to 1915. and a memberofthe War Council from January. 1915. was one potential
adressee who would have been in a position "without delay to lay before Mr. Asquith and Sir Edward
Grey" the lener in question. as Q'Mahoney asked "Harcourt" ta do.

-Il O'Mahoney pointed out that "there are only three [ministers] here representing out allies and you may
take it for granted that the Servian Minister was not one of the two." He also wrote: "1 am not allowed
ta mention the name ofmy infonnant but if 1were. you would ac1cnowledge at once that he can be
absolutely trusted.... 1must beg ofyou not ta take any steps which would lead to the discovery ofhis
identity." Ibid.
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Presumably, Bax-Ironside was only attempting to protect Grey's interests, and was not

operating under the influence ofhis personal differences with Buxton, as the latter seems

ta have assumed. Although Bax-Ironside's staunchly pro-Serb views made mm a naturaI

foil ta the Buxtons, Charles Roden Buxton actually remarked at one point that his

brother's "finest achievement" was

rus conquest of Sir Henry Bax-Ironside.... [ am always atraid of matters
coming to a final breach between us and him and his refusing even to send
telegrams for us or give us prospects. But Noel has guiled mm captive, and
they sit for hours closeted together.. Noelleading him on with discreet
questions about the expansion of Servia and Bax c1asping him by the hand and
saying "You and 1, my dear Buxton'l will see this thing through."42

[n any event, on the moming ofOctober 27.. under the direction of Enver Bey and

his allies in Berlin.. and without the knowledge of the Grand Vizier, the Goeben and

Breslau (re-christened the Jawus and klidil/l1led a tleet of five other Turkish warships

into the Black Sea:B The Ottoman Empire's subsequent entrance iota the war against the

Entente on October 30 left Noel Buxton positively ecstatic:

What a reliefto the mind! Support ofTurkey. the greatest blot on English
history, at last removed. 1have often retlected that 1would give my life ifl
could ensure such a war therehy. Even the great War is now on the side of
goOd.44

42 Charles Roden Bu.'don to Lucy Bu.xton; 1914 Il 01; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 25; File 3.

43 Zeman, 60

.w Noel Buxton to Lucy Buxton; 1914 Il 01; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 13; File 1. Similarly, David Lloyd
George impressed Buxton with the following: "The Turks were a human cancer. a creeping agony to the
tlesh to the land which they occupy, rending every fiber oflife. The tread ofhis bloodstained sandals
scorches and withers life out ofwhole territories and thousands ofsquare miles. The peoples subjected
to their role have for generations been the viaim ofhis insolence, incompetence, and lu~ and now that
the great day ofreckoning has come upon nations [ am gIad.'t Noel Buxtonts notes; n. d.; copy. N. B.
P.: Box 64; File 1.
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Meanwhile~ the Bulgarian government apparently had received hints from

Bucharest that should Bulgaria enter the war against Turkey, Romania would remain

neutral.45• [n addition. the Turkish naval bombardment of Odessa and other Russian ports

on October 29 and 30 had given rise ta a renewed upsurge of Russophilia within

Bulgaria. This complemented the increased Turkophobia occasioned by the attempt on

the Buxtons. Consequently, Ferdinand briefly entertained the possibility ofan alliance

with Russia against the Ottoman Empire" his defensive agreement with the Turks

notwithstanding. This possibility was eliminated however. when Sazonov detèrred to

Grey's view and reemphasized that Bulgaria's prospects in Macedonia \vould depend

soIely on what Serbia would willingly concede:f6

Nonetheless Grey had now been convinced.. along with the rest of the Cabinet" by

Churchill, Lloyd George.. and Masterman that Bulgarian neutrality was now worthless..f7

Prior British suggestions to Sotia had of course aimed ta promote anly the reconciliation

of Serbia and Bulgaria. keeping the latter neutral in arder ta allow Greece unrestricted

movement while maintaining pressure on Turkey..f8 But Bax-Ironside reported on

November 1that lIif Bulgaria can be prevented from attacking Serbia for three weeks or

SO~ she will, in my opinion, eventually come in against Turkey."4Q Noel Bu.xton too

4S In accordance with the Crawn Council decision. infra, 61.

46 Crampton, 437.

.f7 Ilcev,36.

.t8 Rabbins, 1971,569.

.f9 "The Balkans, 1914-15 from the Outbreak of the War ta the Offer to Bulgaria." Stevenson. 389.
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recognized that time was of the essence and the moment opportune, and on November 2

again wired the Foreign Office through the British Legation in Bucharest:

[t is believed here as follows: - Servia would agree to unconditional concession
of Vardar line including Velez. Ifthis can be included in offer to Bulgaria her
action against Turkey would be secured. Bulgaria being key to whole Balkan
situation and Macedonia being key to Bulgarian situation, interests of Entente
at critical moment ought not to be sacrificed ta short-sighted obstinacy of
present Servian Government. Bulgaria would be most impressed if terms
communicated by English Government in London.50

On November 3, the prospect of territorial gains in Eastern Thrace down to the

Enos-Midia Hne, including the recovery of Adrianople was offered to Radoslavov by

Grey, although the Foreign Secretary reiterated that any potential Bulgarian gains in

Macedonia still depended upon Serbian cooperation. 51 [n response_ Radoslavov informed

James Bourchier that if Bulgaria could be guaranteed frontiers assigned in its 1913 treaty

ofalliance with Serbi~ the Protacal of Petrograd_ and the Treaty of London respectively,

Bulgaria would follow any policy desired by the Triple Entente.52 Although Savinsky and

Buxton were both of the opinion that only such a precise and decisive otIer could

possibly seduce Bulgaria53 on November 7_ the three Entente powers made only a vague

offer of "important territorial advantages" to Satia. Moreover it was difficult to determine

50 Noel Buxton (0 Sir Edward Grey; copy; 1914 Il 02. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3.

51 Sir Edward Grey to Sir Henry Ba:<-Ironside; 1914 Il 03. Stevenson. l46.

52 Viz. Macedonian territories lying southeast ofa line running trom Ohrid in the southwest to Mount
Golem in the nonheast. part ofwestem Thrace including the towns ofKavalla, Seres_ and Drama, (with
the uncontested zone still to be divided up after the war); that part of Dobruja taken from Bulgaria after
the Second Balkan War; and a frontier with Turkey running trom Enos (Enez) on the Aegean Sea to
Midiia (KiyikOy) on the Black Sea. Sir Henry Bax-Ironside to Sir Edward Grey; 1914 Il 03.
Stevenson. 148.

53 Robbins, 1971, 570.
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from the terms ofthe offer whether the Entente was seeking Bulgaria's active

participation in the war or would even at this attenuated and propitious stage he satisfied

with benevolent neutrality.54 Even Bax-Ironside suggested that any subsequent offer

"should be as fonnal and detinite as possible."ss He did express himself nonetheless as

"ofopinion that Bulgaria will drift into war on our side.56

By this time~ however~ Russian morale had been seriously undermined by various

military and diplomatie setbacks. including the opening ofa new front in the Caucasus

against Turkey. [t was supposed in London that the cession of Constantinople might

suppress any possible inclination on the part of Russia to conclude a separate peace with

the Central Powers. and also deflect Russian ambitions away fram eastem Europe}7

Accordingly, Britain assured the Tsarist government that the question of the Straits and

Constantinople would be settled after the War in agreement with Russia. 5g From Britain's

perspective, a strong Bulgaria was therefore required ta safeguard against excessive

Russian influence in the eastem part ofthe Balkan peninsula}9 Consequently~ Grey then

proposed that Serbia be affered Bosnia and Hercegovin~ an outlet on the Adriatic~ and a

common frontier with Greece. as a guarantee tàr the immediate cession of Macedonia to

54 Ibid..

5S Sir Henry Ba,<-Ironside ta Sir Edward Grey; 1914 11 08. Stevenson, 156.

56 Sir Henry Bax-Ironside to Sir Edward Grey; 1914 Il OS. Ibid.• 160.

57 V. H. Rothwell, Britjsh Wac Aims and Peace piplQmacy 1914-1918. (Oxford: Clarendon Press. 1971.)
24.

58 Rabbins~ 1971, 569.

59 Ilcev, 36.
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Bulgaria.6o Correctly interpreting Grey's sudden largesse, Sazonov vetoed the proposai to

Serbia, ostensibly on the basis of Britain's previous hesitations about bringing pressure to

bear at a time when the military situation in Serbia was precarious. Instead.. Sazonov

suggested that Serbia be promised the partition of Albania between itselfand Greece.. but

Grey foresaw potential difficulties in the relations of the Entente with Italy if Sazonov's

proposaI was accepted.61

Finally, on November 16.. the Entente offered.. in return for Bulgaria's immediate

entry into the war.. the Enos-Midiia line to the south, Macedonia to the east of the Vardar

river and south of the Hne demarcated in the Serbo-Bulgarian treaty of 1912, and

tinanciaI assistance.62 Nikola Pasic reacted immediately, waming that if Bulgaria was to

seize any part of Macedonia.. Serbia would transtèr aIl of its forces from the Austrian ta

the Bulgarian tront.6J Radoslavov theretore demurred.. waiting tor contirmation trom the

Entente.. and tinally reiterated that his country intended to remain neutral. However.. Bax-

Ironside reported that Radoslavov had promised that Bulgaria would not attack Romania

should it decide to join the Entente.

Radoslavov was also said to have told Bax-Ironside that "Events will trend your

way,"64 and Noel Buxton had meanwhile been working to ensure the accuracy ofthat

60 Grey aise hoped that Radoslavov and Ferdinand wouid fear Russia as a potentiai neighbor, and
moderate their hitheno intransigent stance. Ibid., 35

61 Ibid.

62 These terms were precisely those which Bax-Ironside, on November 7. had judged to be "adequate
inducement to bring Bulgaria round to our side." Sir Henry Bax-lronside to Sir Edward Grey; 1914 Il
08. Stevenson, 154.

63 llcev,37

64 Sir Henry Bax-Ironsideto Sir Edward Grey; 1914 1108. Stevenson, 176.
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prediction. Fully recovered trom their wounds, he and his brother had returned ta Sofia

on November Il. Although they had been fëted in grand style.. and a street renamed in

their honor, Noel Buxton had concluded that the outrage had "done ail the good that an

attack can dO."65 He consequently we1comed the possibility that he and bis brather might

again be targeted:

If death was certain~ it would be worth it ta get Bulgaria ta tight. ... How much
does death matter? If we can avoid war, 1lllJ&h, but now hundreds die daily tor
an item ooly [viz. Serbia's refusal to cede Macedonia}. 'Jvre should he gaining
400, 000 men, probably Roumania and Greece tao ... If a profitable death can
be had, it is surely a chance to seize.... We ought not ta avoid risk either of
public advacacy or of staying on.66

However.. there were detinite indications that Buxton's political relevance had

waned considerably, although he remained in close contact with Opposition ministers.

His primary preoccupation was simply to keep abreast of the political situation, and hold

himself in readiness ta intervene as best he could should the situation take a turn for the

worse:

The critical moment has not yet come when Bulgaria may be most tempted to
go wrong! ... When it cornes, we may, ifever.. be useful. We have statements
ready ta publish then.. which we can't leave ta others.67

After about a week and a halfofbiding his time in the capitaL Noel Buxton wrote a

revealing letter ta his wife:

We are often occupied in weighing the pros and cons about going or staying. It
is Dllm difficult. Our duty is like a soldiers' but with no one to give him orders

6S Noel Bu.xton to Lucy Bu.xton; 1914 Il 10; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 69; File 1.

66 Ibid.

67 Noel Buxton to Lucy Bu.xton; 1914 Il 24; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 25; File 3. There does not seem to
he any copy of those statements however.
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... We have fiiends in all parties, who have influence and whose wobbling
might be corrected. The Opposition leaders (Le. pro-Entente men) beg us not to
leave. The Austrophil papers are always attacking us and asking why we don't
leave! Perhaps this reveals that we are ofvalue against their policy and ifwe go
they will crow loudly and the Ententists will he depressed. It is like an electionr
... Again., if we had a duty to come because ofour position with the public
here, we have much more now owing to the obliging assassin. Above all how
terrible if we left for personal reasons and then Bulgaria just toppled into the
German camp. 1should never torgive myself for not contributing my effort
however small and everyone including Grey would (rightly) say "Why the - did
you run away just when you might help after all the trouble and loss that you
had taken?"68

On the 17th ofNovember, Buxton sent off another wire to Grey, having

"endeavored to learo minimum terms which might win Bulgaria.." although he admitted

that these might "rise further owing to Turkish war and Serbian reverses and need of

Entente to secure action by Greece and Rumania:"

Conversations outside government circles confirm opinion expressed in last
telegram.69 Popular tèeling is indifferent about Thrace and tàvours neutrality
unless immediate occupation of Macedonia up to 1912 frontier is otIered. Even
opposition leaders who have hitherto thought promises ofacquisition at end of
war would be sufficient, now think occupation ofconsiderable territory is
necessary to secure support of people and army ... Provocation inseparable
trom recruitment of Bulgarian population [in Macedonia] by Serbia tonns
constant inducement to Bulgaria to accept tempting otfers of Austria. ïO

However, Grey intormed Buxton that if the Bulgarians insisted on a mandate to occupY

Macedonia before Serbia received territorial acquisitions in Austria-Hungary and

Dalmatia, it would "make things impossible. IfServia will make concessions it will be

very helpful but pressure wonrt dO."7.

68 Ibid.

69 Supra~ 73.

70 Noel Buxton to Sir Edward Grey; 1914 Il 17; copy. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3.

7. Noel Buxton's notes; ca. 1914 II 19. on Ibid.
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On November 24, the three ministers of the Entente in Sofia addressed ajoint

communiqué to Radoslavov. Provided only that it maintained a strict attitude of neutrality

towards Serbi~ Greece, and Romania, Bulgaria was offered a guarantee "that when the

time cornes for tinal senlement which will follow the war they [i. e. the powers of the

Entente] will remember her attitude by securing for her important territorial advantages.72

In response~ Radoslavov would eventually declare both in the Bulgarian Sobranie.. where

the Opposition insisted on increased contacts with the Entente,73 and to the British

government directly, that nothing "ofa nature to modit)r attitude ofneutrality hitherto

maintained by Bulgaria"74 had transpired. Radoslavov also remarked that Bax-Ironside

and his ministerial colleagues would have to make a "much more substantial and definite

offer to Bulgaria if they wished to secure her active cooperation."75

Essentially, although both the British and the Russians were later anxious to place

the blame for hesitation on each other76, it was clear, as Buxton had insisted ail along..

that only the preliminary occupation of Macedonia by Bulgarian troops would have

guaranteed Bulgaria's participation. As neither Grey nor.. apparently.. Sazonov ~ were

willing even at this stage to coerce Serbia into cooperation (Delcassé in France would

perhaps have been, but did not share the clout of his col1eagues), the Entente had reverted

72 Sir George Buchanan to Sir Edward Grey; 1914 II 20. Stevenson, 180.

73 lIcev,37

74 "The Balkans, 1914 -15, from the Outbreak of the Warto the OtTerto Bulgaria," Stevenson.. 390.

75 Sir Henry Bax-lronside ta Sir Edward Grey; 1914 1209. Ibid., 196.

76 Rabbins, 1971,570 n.55.
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to ilS original poliey of seeking only Bulgaria's benevoient neutrality. Provided that the

military situation developed favorably, this could be accomplished with fewer

sacrifices.77

On November 27, Noel Buxton had dispatehed a sixth and rmai wire to Grey:

Replying to YOUf message [viz. Grey's objection to Noei Buxton's proposais
ofOctober 22 and November 17], 1have ofeourse consistently said to
Bulgarians that immediate occupation is impossible but please realize that aIl
reHable judges here think Bulgarian attaek on Turkey cannot be seeured
without immediate occupation ofat least part of Macedonia. Aiso that this
arrangement is necessary in view of Austria possibly advancing South and
putting pressure on Bulgaria.

Russian Minister authorizes me to state his agreement with above.
Serbian representative here privately uses expression that Serbia wouid ohey

deeision of Entente Powers though of course under protest.
[fonly Roumanian action is being sought it is still thought necessary to

promise 1912 line conditionaIly to Bulgaria. She wouid then be reeognized as
committed to Entente so that the party in Roumania tàvouring war against
Austria whose success depends on reinforcing efforts ofTake Joneseu could
effectively answer pretext that Bulgaria wouid attack Roumania.18

However. Buxton's impression that the Serbs would be willing ta modify their position

shouId they be given the opportunity to do so with dignity was shared by Ferdinand and

Radoslavov as weIl. In fact. Bulgaria aIso anticipated that the intransigence of the Serbs

would further dissolve as their military position continued to deteriorate in the tàce ofa

revitalized Austrian offensive. Consequently, separate efforts by Buxton and Savinsky to

persuade the Bulgarians formally to specify their terms had been fruitIess.

Noel and Charles Roden Buxton were saon on their way back to London. The

attitude of the British Foreign Office, and the persistent intransigence ofhoth the

77 Ucev,37

78 Noe! Buxton to Sir Edward Grey; 1914 Il 27; copy. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3.
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Bulgarian and Serbian governments had finally convinced them that they could do no

more for their cause in Sofia. On November 28, two days prior to their departure, Noel

Buxton had drafted the text ofa fmalletter of appeal ta Radoslavov, although there is no

evidence ta confirm that it was ever sent. It read, in part:

As suggested by your excellency [sic], we are very glad to record sorne of the
views that we hold upon the present situation ... we have anxiously considered
what is the course by which the rights of the Macedonians may he recovered.
We are unable to see any practical policy by which this may be achieved except
that ofadhesion to the "Entente." ln our opinion an understanding formally
signed by England as well as France and Russia, that precise and adequate
concessions shaH be made at the end of the war, would be a real guarantee
... [of] the recovery ofMacedonia... 79

The contents of this note would hardly have made rnuch of an impression on the

Bulgarian Prime Minister.

The Buxtons were escorted out ofthe country amidst a renewed chorus ofpopular

disapproval of the Entente. While moderate publications such as Urro contented

themselves with briefbut signiîicant allusions to the fact that the Bulgarians were lia

democratic and freedom loving people who together with their politicalleaders sincerely

wish to live in tranquillity,"80 pro-Government publications were somewhat more direct.

Kambana, tor example, spoke out against Buxton as follows:

Let them, the blind and deaf in Bulgaria learn through the authoritative ward
of the Buxton brothers that the Triple Entente is demanding our ...army ... in
arder ta save Egypt. .. When we needed the word ofhonor [in 1913] ofSir
Edward Grey, the Sazonovs and the Delcassés, we received only malicious
mockery from the capitals of the Triple Entente.

Today they want to sell their honest promises against new Bulgarian blood
without providing the least guarantee that after we render them our best service

79 Noel Buxton to Vasil Radoslavov; [914 1[ 28; holograph; draft version. N. B. P.: Box 57; File 6.

80 VIra; 1914 Il 19. N. B. P.: Box 59; File 3.
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we shaH not again be severely punished, as we were last year. Bath the persans
and the poliey of the Triple Entente are the same.81

On the day of the Buxtons' departure, the same journal bid them fareweH in the following

manner:

Messrs. Buxton will carry away with themseLves from Bulgaria a whole bag
ofgreetings and praise for their speeches trom aImost alL great and small
Russophiles in Bulgaria.

Before Leavine Sotia. the Buxton brothers declared loudlv ... that Bull!aria
~ . ~

ought immediately ta join the Triple Entente and deelare war to Turkey and
Austro..Hungary, or else England and the Powers of the Triple Entente will not
recognize any territorial aggrandizement.

We want ta know whether all those who were greeting the Buxton brothers as
the mast noble friends ta Bulgaria are orthe same opinion?82

At Il :30 in the moming ofNovember 30. the Buxtons presented themselves at the

train station. where a great number of their remaining supporters had assembled to see

them off, incIuding the mayor and numerous Opposition politicians. Their cheers mingled

with the Buxton's shouts of "Long live BuIgaria:tS3 as the train pulled away trom the

station.

* * *

•

So ended the Buxtons' sojourn in Bulgaria.lW and with it Noel Buxton's grand

opportunity to influence the conduet ofBritish foreign policy in the Balkans. On their

81 Kambana; 1914 Il 29. Ibid.

82 Kambana; 1914 Il 30. Ibid.

83 Dnevnik; 1914 II 30. Ibid.

84 [t would be a full twenty years before Noel Buxton was to retum to the Balkans. Perhaps he had been
somewhat disillusioned by the events ofthe preceding four months. As the years passed he also became
increasingly preoccupied with domestic affairs. However~ he continued steadfastly to uphold the cause
of BuJgaria, regardless of its ultimate accession to the Central Powers in late 1915. and spoke out after
the Armistice against the Treaties ofSèvres and Neuilly. Twenty-four years later. in April 1939. he
would revive his 1914 arguments pertaining to the need to secure Bulgaria for the Allied cause. this
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way home, the determined Buxtons nevertheless spent two full weeks in Nis, for

informative but ultimately futile discussions with Nikola Pasic and King Alexander

Karadjorjevic. The Buxtons subsequently stopped briefly for similarly inconsequential

meetings with, respectively, Eleutherios Venizelos and King Constantine in Athens, and

Théophile Delcassé.. Georges Clemenceau.. and Alexander Izvolski. the Russian

Ambassador to France. in Paris. By January 6. 1915. the Buxton brothers were back in

London, where they were atforded a decidedly cool reception by Grey and Asquith.IlS

Undaunted.. Noel Buxton continued ta disseminate his views in a series of

memoranda,86 letters to the press.. and private conferences with persans of int1uence. He

was eventually able to arrange three secret meetings between Lloyd George and the

Bulgarian Minister in London.. P. Hadzimisev, which took place early in the summer. The

episode culminated ooly in confusion when Lloyd George.. tàllowing Buxton's lead.. made

unauthorized promises of his own ta Bulgaria regarding proposed Greek and Serbian

concessions.. and in tum incurred the censure of Grey and Asquith.87

[n early September.. with Bulgarian troops massing on the Macedonian frontier..

Noel Buxton proposed that he make a final .. desperate.. visit to Sofia. However.. his offer

time within the contextofthe Second World War. Noel Buxtonts memorandum: 19390429; copy.
NPB: Box 63; File [

8S Fry, 282. Adequate coverage of Buxton's post-1914 propaganda activities in London with respect to the
Balkans can be found in other secondary sources, including Anderson; Charles Roden Bu.xton~

''Nationality.'r (Towards a Lastim~ Seulement ed. Charles R. Buxton. London: George Allen &
Unwin, 1915.); Buxton and Buxton; Noel Buxton and C. Leonard Leese, Balkan Problems and
European Peace. (London: George Allen & Unwin. 1919.); Conwell-Evans; Fieldhouse; llcev; and
Robbins, [971.

86 The most important ofthese, handed ln lanuary~ 1915, is quoted in full by Buxton and Leese. 77.

87 The best account ofthe episode is found in Noel Buxtonts autobiography excerpted ln Conwell­
Evans~ 110-113.
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was firmly rejected by the Foreign Office, which had decided that the Balkans must be

protected from any further agitation by the Buxton brothers.88 When Bulgaria ultimately

entered the war as an ally of the Central Powers on October 15. 1915, Buxton, somewhat

unfairly, declared in public that Foreign Office conservatism and incompetence had from

the beginning combined to cripple legitimate initiatives in the Balkans.89

88 Fry, 286.

89 Ibid, 285.
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CONCLUSION

During the course ofhis mission'l Buxton was definitely harnpered by his

tendency to pursue ms cause from the perspective ofa politician'l which ofcourse he was'l

rather than that ofa diplomat. His misapprehension that public opinion was as politically

effective in Bulgaria as it was in Britain served to undermine his position in Sofia.

Furthermore, his apparent inability or unwillingness ta recognize that London back bench

politics were unwelcome on the international tront led to prejudice against him within the

British Foreign Office. It is not unlikely th. 'Us advice was often dismissed in London

without contemplation.

On the other hand'l it should he noted that Buxton's indiscretions in BUlgaria had

gained significance only though Grey's willingness to keep secret within the Cabinet the

question ofwhether or not Buxton was to he regarded as an official emissary of the

British Govemment. It is not impossible that the Foreign Secretary was allowing himself

the luxury 0 f having Buxton ta encourage Bulgaria to side with the Entente through

"official" promises which could later be disavowed should Serbia or Greece object.

Buxton's own notes on the mission, written at an unspecified date'l seem to support this

hypothesis: "My status therefore? Nominally unotIicial? T0 pursue these aims on behalf

of Government without incurring suspicion of Serbia and [Greece] unduly?" 1

[n any case, despite baving ultimately acrneved lime ofsubstance during the

course ofhis mission'l Buxton was hardly modest upon ms retum ta London in January,

1 Noel Buxton's notes; n. d.; holograph. N. B. P.: Box 64; File 1.
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1915. First of all., he dismissed any criticism ofhis tactics in Soti~ remarking rather

arrogantly that it

was more than irritating ta be encouraged ta come, ta leave all manner ofwork
and aIso wife and family, to incur great efforts and expense, and (as it turned
out) great dangers ... and then ta find that every suggestion for action ... was
rejected and she1ved.2

Moreover. aceording ta him., it was in large part due to his efforts that the Bulgarian

government was less impatient than it had been at the beginning of the War to ally with

the Central Powers.3 In actuality. the improving military tàrtunes of the Entente after

September had exerted a far greater temporizing influence over Ferdinand and

Radoslavov than had Buxton's arguments. Similarly. Conwell..Evans' subsequent

assertion that Buxton eventually "had the gratification of seeing his poliey adopted by the

Entente.,"4 in the Allied note ta Bulgaria of the 29th of May was ooly partIy true as weIl.

Again't favorable military developments. this time in the Dardanelles.. rather than Buxton.,

had instigated the shift. Moreover, the decisian of the Foreign Office ta revise samewhat

its approach to Bulgaria was hopelessly belated.

Bu.xton's primary target had in any case been the pro-Entente circles in Sofi~

whom he had successfully led to believe that Great Britain recognized and was

sympathetic to Bulgaria's national demands.5 His efforts in this regard were a natura!

outgrowth of the fact that he and ms like..minded colleagues in London were confident

2 Ibid.

3 Fry, 281.

4 Conwell-Evans~ 112.

5 ncev~ 35.
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that Bulgarian loyalty could be secured through working exclusively with the political

Opposition in Sotia. Although he rarely found tàult with Grey's estimate of the probable

intentions of the Bulgarian Government, Buxton considered that estimate to be irrelevant

given that he had "friends and supporters" in Bulgaria who would overthrow their

Government ifonly they received "encouragement" from the British Foreign Office.6 He

was theretbre disinclined to consider seriously the positions taken either by Grey in

London, or Ferdinand and Radoslavov in Sofia. In this, however, Buxton totally misread

poiitical developments in Bulgaria since the mid-l89D's. The King and bis Prime Minister

were in complete political controL. and the Opposition was fragmented, with those parties

which had not been totally discredited in the popular eye by the disastrous Second Balkan

War in 1913 committed to neutrality.1

Moreover, thanks to Grey's understandable reluctance to propose to Bulgaria

concessions involving Macedonia that might anger the Serbs without necessarily securing

the support or even neutrality ofBulgari~ Buxton was unable to propose even a viable

alternative to the torthcoming alliance with the Central Powers. Buxton's "common­

sense" poHey of providing compensation aU round al the expense of the Ottoman and

Austro-Hungarian empires .. to Bulgaria in Maeedonia, to Serbia in Bosnia..Hereegovina

and the Adriatic, to Greece in Asia Minor, and to Romania in Transylvania and

Bessarabia, was essentially unwarkable in practice. First ofall, Buxtan underestimated

the difficulties involved in coordinating the proposed territorial adjustments with the

6 Fieldhouse, [83-[86.

7 Crampton, 445.
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competing political and territorial ambitions ofRussia~ France~ and even Britain.8

Furthennore~ Buxton's assumption, shared by Many ofhis compatriots, that an equitable

division of the Balkans on nationallines would lead to the creation ofa Balkan league

was a fallacy. None of the Balkan states, Serbia and Bulgaria least ofall, was particularly

interested in an equitable division ofthe region, but rather in the greatest advantage to

themselves, and the Central Powers could obviously outbid the Entente.9 In this respect..

the assumption of Sir Edward Grey and ms Foreign Office staff that diplomatie overtures

in the Balkans were useless without the prior support of favorable military action4 was

correct.

Buxton therefore failed ta achieve the one specifie diplomatie coup which he

might conceivably have attained for London; namely, overthrowing the conviction..

widespread in Sofia. that if Bulgaria ever were to commit itself to fight on the side ofthe

Entente, Britain.. as a guarantee of the postwar reversion of Macedonia to Bulgaria, would

as a prerequisite have to secure its priar occupation by Bulgarian or Entente troops.

Instead.. Buxton expended even more energy on ineffectual attempts to persuade Grey and

the rest of the Foreign Office that it would be in the best interests of Britain to bring their

Balkan policy in Hne with Bulgaria's demands. However4 the collective wartime British

psyche was more inclined to solidarity than dissidence.

Aiso unwelcome ta contemporary governments was Noel Buxton's presence at the

forefront of the development of the idea tbat social morality rather than national interest

8 Fry 283.

9 Calder, 44.
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or political practicality should detennine foreign policy. Buxton hoped that this would be

achieved through of the democratization offoreign policy~ effectively subordinating the

imput ofspecialists and experts to that of institutions such as the Hoyse ofCommons~or

individuals such as Buxton himself. Foreiin Palier fiom a Back Bench 1904-

12O.8.,written in 1932 by T. P. Conwell-Evans" Buxton's private secretary, was in large

part a castigation of the evils of secret diplomacy and the alliance system. The theme was

subsequently explored through the more objective approach of A. J. P. Taylor and later H.

N. Fieldhouse'l both of whom attempted to locate Buxton within the annals of Dissent in

British politics (in The Trouble Makers and "Noel Bu:'<:ton and A. J. P. Taylor's The

Troub/e-lv/akers," respectively).

Today, however, democratic ideals ofmorality seem to have become equated with

capitalist ideology. The result has been not the international harmony and peaceful

Christian rationality and goodwill envisioned by Noel Buxton and his like-minded

eontemporaries but rather the media-tèd imposition ofeither or both economic and

military sanctions by the Western democracies on a selected assortment ofoffending

nations.

Regardless" Buxton's expedition is thus most appropriately considered as a

pioneering example of the application ofapparently democratic principles to power

politics. SeveraI years hefore the First World War~ at a meeting of the Balkan Committee,

Buxton had in fact already expressed his determination to contribute

something to the difficult problem of how moral principles ought to he applied
to foreign politics ... not always seeing clearly what the result would he ...
[and] keeping the cause to justice.10

la Balkan Committee document; holograph; n. d. (pre-1914). N. B. P.: Box 56a; File 1.
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His 1914 mission to Bulgaria was simply another means to that end" for the "cause of

justice" had long been for Buxton synonymous with that ofBulgaria. From Buxton's

perspective. at least" his expedition could therefore be deemed a success.

92
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